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Accordia Golf Trust

Accordia Golf Trust Management Pte. Ltd.

068898 #22-03A 80
C/0 80 Robinson Road, #22-03A Singapore 068898

03 6212 8316

SGD OANDA Corporation
2019 31 SGD 81.78
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89
. O 2018 . 2018 i
( ( ) )
cc 8,000 27 1970 1,334 87.1 | 95,323
cc 6,530 18 1981 1,124 110.4 | 80,614
cc 3,780 27 1979 1,071 90.4 | 98,127
cc 3,600 27 1962 903 86.5 | 93,425
GC 2,880 36 1974 989 77.7 | 111,283
GC 2,870 18 1973 636 83.4 | 60,684
cc 2,830 18 1978 673 79.9 | 58,362
GC 2,650 36 1968 715 68.2 | 99,244
GC 2,600 18 1997 644 81.0 | 58,145
10 cc 2,440 18 1982 575 81.6 | 59,102
11 GC 2,430 36 1966 827 68.0 | 98,400
12 GC 2,000 27 1972 616 80.1 | 87,433
13 GC 1,950 18 1984 548 82.5 | 59,753
14 cc 1,910 18 1973 595 76.4 | 55,441
15 cc 1,910 18 1990 627 82.0 | 58,848
16 cc 1,800 27 1974 597 72.9 | 79,657
17 cc 1,570 18 1994 578 80.9 | 59,034
18 cc D 1,460 18 1989 647 79.8 | 57,960
19 cc 1,400 18 1988 534 83.7 | 60,604
20 cc 1,350 18 1975 500 78.8 | 57,341
21 (GC; 1,340 18 1979 476 81.7 | 58,491
NEW
22 cc 1,310 18 1901 454 77.9 | 56,550
23 ccC ) 1,270 18 1986 971 75.4 | 54,742
24 6C 1,110 18 1990 539 82.9 | 60,008
25 cc 1,070 18 1992 499 83.3 | 60,123
26 cc 1,020 27 1975 515 69.1 | 75,202
27 cc 1,000 18 1990 510 83.3 | 60,657
28 c 973 43 1963 1,221 85.3 | 147,890
29 cc 935 18 1988 550 84.6 | 61,571
30 cc 741 18 1975 351 72.5 | 52,226
31 ccC ) 646 18 1970 587 82.6 59,957
32 cc D 332 27 1987 536 65.6 71,443
cc

33 O 270 27 1976 402 60.9 | 53,166
34 c 113 18 1978 238 72.0 | 40,025
3B | () o 28 18 1978 271 60.9 | 43,942
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. O 2018 - 2018 2018
¢ C Ol ®
ocC ) 7,480 45 1969 1,582 85.9 155,301
cc 4,610 27 1972 996 91.9 97,548
cC 4,400 27 1968 1,001 91.7 98,780
cc 4,340 36 1974 1,096 86.5 125,997
GC 3,190 27 1960 820 77.1 83,748
GC 2,090 18 1988 679 87.0 62,825
cc 1,990 18 1965 581 89.9 65,110
GC 1,820 18 1998 535 85.5 59,678
) 1,580 45 1993 1,521 80.5 146,369
10 GC 1,380 18 1996 433 75.8 52,151
11 GC 1,270 18 1974 486 82.8 59,137
12 cc 1,220 18 1970 570 89.7 64,913
13 cc 760 18 2001 537 82.9 60,205
14 cc 583 18 1987 426 78.3 56,389
15 GC 491 18 1996 496 82.1 59,425
" O 2018 Oy 2018 2018
( C Ol ®
GC 2,470 18 1988 699 81.3 59,013
cc 2,100 18 1990 643 83.1 60,364
GC 2,000 27 1993 736 70.9 76,378
cC 1,950 18 1993 648 79.8 57,950
) « 1,370 18 1987 521 84.7 61,834
GC 1,290 18 1992 491 76.0 54,734
GC 1,250 18 1996 402 73.6 52,223
GC 1,230 18 1994 538 79.3 56,594
GC 1,170 18 1991 460 71.3 51,184
10 GC 1,020 18 1992 541 86.8 63,201
11 25GC 920 18 1995 483 77.5 55,184
12 GC 701 18 1984 386 70.3 51,206

18/355



EDINETOOOO

Oo0ooooooooobo0oDo0obDo0ooDo0oooo0o0bDo0g0oOoo(Ese783)

Ooooooooooooooooooad

19/355

2018
No. ) ) 2018 2018
C ) ( >l ®
cc 2,970 18 1988 652 82.4 59,967
) 2,110 18 1969 622 83.7 60,438
cc 1,710 18 1973 478 66.7 46,430
cc 1,610 18 1974 537 83.1 59,350
cc 1,210 18 1989 459 79.7 57,715
GC 1,090 36 1980 657 63.0 91,435
cc 1,050 18 1977 394 66.7 46,953
cc 882 18 1974 341 63.8 42,852
cc 873 18 1976 375 69.7 50,328
10 GC 838 27 1974 489 66.3 71,584
11 GC 809 18 1998 326 84.4 57,366
12 GC 801 18 1975 517 84.2 60,296
13 GC 750 18 1991 458 71.5 51,880
14 cc 526 18 1994 305 57.7 38,792
15 Ccc 521 18 1961 303 65.5 47,261
16 o 512 18 1992 251 65.7 47,538
17 cc 476 18 1994 360 64.8 47,035
18 cc 465 18 1976 324 72.2 48,834
19 cC 451 18 1976 253 58.5 32,499
20 cc 442 18 1979 320 65.0 46,386
21 GC 381 27 1975 255 49.6 34,968
22 GC 337 18 1992 417 70.0 40,477
23 cc 332 18 1967 275 57.4 40,971
24 cc 327 27 1963 336 50.2 37,772
25 cc 277 18 1985 219 61.5 29,150
26 cc 107 18 1991 304 59.0 42,866
27 cc 64 18 1993 319 64.3 40,524
( -) 2018 12 31
)
J-GAAP 2018 2018 2019 31
) 10
(@) 27 18
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Chong Teck Sin

Khoo Kee Cheok 2014 20 2014 16
Khoo 1980 DBS 16 28

The Bank of East Asia

Association of Banks in Singapore Summit Securities Pte.
Ltd.
Khoo 1971 1972
2014 16

1984 Nitto America Co.,

Ltd.
10

2009

1982
Chong Teck Sin 2014 16
Chong Civmec Ltd InnoTek Ltd Changan Minsheng APLL
Logistics Co., Ltd AIMS AMP Capital Industrial REIT Management Limited

AVIC International Maritime Holdings Ltd
Beyonics Technology Limited Wanxiang International Limited Sihuan Pharmaceutical Holdings Group
Ltd. JES International Holdings Limited Midsouth Holdings Ltd.
Blackgold International Holdings Limited
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Chong 2004 2010 ACRA
Seksun Corporation Ltd Glaxo Wellcome Asia Pacific
China-Singapore Suzhou Industrial Park Development Co., Ltd.

Chong 1981 1987

2014 16

KPMG

2006 FAS

1993

2018
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AG
AG 13 zg
AG
AG
34A
109
2018 FRS39 FRS109
IRAS 2017 11 22 FRS109
FRS39 FRS109
GST
AG
12
12 GST AG
AG
100
GST GST 26 27
2025 12 31
IRAS e-Tax Guide AG
AG

GST
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2019 31
SGD
758,084,856.44 96.48
27,694,164.20 3.52
785,779,020.64 100.00
64,261
2019 31
I
SGD SGD

758,084,856.44 | 758,084,856.44 | 758,084,856.44 | 758,084,856.44 | 96.48

2019 31

2019 31
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(SGD) ) (SGD) ( )| (SGD) ) (SGD) )

(2015 g1 ) |943.867,307.71| 77,189 (881,107,441.51| 72,057 | 0.86 70| 0.80 65
(2016 a1y |962,474,119.54| 78,711 (889,602,330.94| 72,752 0.88 72| o.81 66
(2017 31 ) |986.704,539.87| 80,693 [920,317,571.06| 75,264 | 0.90 74| 0.84 69
(2018 a1 |959,951,497.73| 78,505 [917,635,300.73| 75,044 | 0.87 71| 0.83 68

927,406,895.58| 75,843 [909,381,294.78| 74,369 | 0.84 69| 0.83 68
(2018 30
(2019 a1 ) |785.779,020.64| 64,261 (744,342,121.24| 60,872 | 0.71 58| 0.68 56

2014
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2018 2019
(S6D) (S6D) (S6D) (S6D) ()

2018 0.65 0.62 0.64 0.62 532,490

0.64 0.58 0.62 0.61 897,243

0.63 0.59 0.61 0.62 1,047,280

0.62 0.59 0.60 0.60 357,245

0.60 0.56 0.57 0.57 605,638

0.57 0.52 0.54 0.55 829,790

10 0.56 0.50 0.52 0.50 1,239,370

11 0.54 0.49 0.50 0.54 5,719,671

12 0.53 0.48 0.49 0.51 1,132,400

2019 0.56 0.51 0.54 0.55 1,501,200

0.63 0.54 0.58 0.63 606,737

0.63 0.59 0.61 0.60 1,061,324

0.62 0.59 0.60 0.61 1,061,324

0.64 0.57 0.61 0.59 1,129,529

0.59 0.52 0.54 0.53 1,199,695

AG
(SGD) ( ) (SGD) (D)
(014 6 2015 a1y 62,759,866.20 5,133 0.0571 4.67
(2015 2016 a1 ) 72,871,788.60 5,959 0.0663 5.42
2016 2017 a1y 66,386,968.80 5,429 0.0604 4.94
017 2018 a1y 42,316,197.00 3,461 0.0385 3.15
( 2
(2018 2010 a1 ) 41,436,899.40 3,389 0.0377 3.08
AG
2019 21 0.0213 23,411,298.60
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(2014 16 2015 31 ) 11.64
(2015 2016 31 ) 9.54
(2016 2017 31 ) 11.16
(2017 2018 31 ) 3.39%
(2018 2019 31 ) -13.53%
100x (a b) b
(0.97 )
1,099,122,000
1,099,122,000
(2014 16 2015 31 ) (963,823,000)
(2015 2016 31 ) ) 1,099,122,000
(2016 2017 31 ) ) 1,099,122,000
(2017 2018 31 ) ) 1,099,122,000
(2018 2019 31 ) ) 1,099,122,000
AG
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@
2019 31
AGT AGT
2019 2018 2019 2018
( ) ( ) ( ) ( )

8,515 8,145 145 116
2,687 2,596 2,804 2,946
294 281 — —
1,120 1,207 39 16
12,616 12,229 2,988 3,078
— — 61,994 75,447
10 141,333 146,033 — —
11 4,078 17,245 — —
395 445 — —
145,806 163,723 61,994 75,447
158,422 175,952 64,982 78,525
12 — 28,847 — —
13 1,103 983 — —
14 5,396 5,441 148 148
15 9,541 10,521 — —
573 602 573 602
17 10 18 — —
16 4,233 4,135 — —
20,856 50,547 721 750
12 42,521 14,108 — —
13 3,640 3,044 — —
() 500 500 — —
15 29 31 — —
23(c) 26,185 27,427 — —
17 — 60 — —
16 421 80 — —
73,296 45,250 — —
94,152 95,797 721 750
64,270 80,155 64,261 77,775
18 81,086 81,086 81,486 81,486
— (78) — —
(17,229) (1,206) (17,225) (3,711)
63,857 79,802 64,261 77,775
413 353 — —

64,270 80,155 64,261 77,775
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@
2019 31
AGT
2019 2018
( ) ( )
20 50,734 50,860
425 590
51,159 51,450
(16,536) (16,367)
(3,521) (3,560)
(5,789) (5,823)
(2,574) (2,558)
(%6) (99)
(250) (254)
(3,290) (3,168)
27 (1,926) (1,995)
(2,140) (2,182)
21 (5,220) (5,242)
(13,144) (1,720)
(4,818) —
(3,073) (2,411)
(62,377) (45,379)
(11,218) 6,071
22 (1,566) (1,603)
(12,784) 4,468
23 291 (336)
24 (12,493) 4,132
( )
17 78 123
( ) 78 123
(12,415) 4,255
(12,553) 4,095
60 37
(12,493) 4,132
(12,475) 4,218
60 37
(12,415) 4,255

() 25 (11.42) 3.73
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2019 31
( )
( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )
AGT

2018 81,086 (78) (1,206) 79,802 353 80,155
— —  (12,553)  (12,553) 60  (12,493)
— 78 — 78 — 78
— 78 (12,553)  (12,475) 60  (12,415)
28 — — (3,470) (3,470) — (3,470)
— — (3,470) (3,470) — (3,470)
2019 31 81,086 —  (17,229) 63,857 413 64,270

2017
81,086 (201) (605) 80,280 316 80,596
— — 4,095 4,095 37 4,132
— 123 — 123 — 123
— 123 4,095 4,218 37 4,255
28 — — (4,696) (4,696) — (4,696)
_ — (4,696) (4,696) — (4,696)

2018 31 81,086 (78) (1,206) 79,802 353 80,155
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2019 31
AGT
2019 2018
( ) )

(12,493) 4,132
3,290 3,168
13,144 —
4,818 1,720
1,566 1,603
— @
(291) 336
19 25
67 104
(15) (26)
9,971 11,061
93 215
12) (25)
(40) (682)
10,012 10,569
(979) (915)
(980) (1,290)
8,053 8,364
(1,311) (2,230)
12 4
(18) (114)
(1,317) (2,340)
43,425 —
(43,425) (450)
(047) (384)
(1,034) (1,937)
(925) (664)
10 —
(3,470) (4,696)
(6,366) (8,131)
370 (2,107)
8,096 10,203
8,466 8,096
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2019 31
2018 4 1 2019 3 31
42,955 | (44,372) 43,425 — — 513 42,521
4,027 630 — — 86 — 4,743
10,552 (1,034) — 47 5 — 9,570
2017 4 1 2018 3 31
43,129 (1,152) — — 318 660 42,955
2,878 1,063 — — 86 — 4,027
12,036 (1,937) — 435 18 — 10,552
AGT 3,764 (2018  : 4,424 )
2,009 (2018 :1,841 ) 444 (2018
=410 )
AGT ( ) 375 (2018 :36
) 363 (2018 :32 )
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80
Road, #22-03A, Singapore 068898) AGT
AGT
)
( ) 49
) 51 ™
™
AGT (SGX-ST)
AGT
(
(
) SPC (
AGT
AGT 98.99
)
AGT
AGT
AGT AGT
2019 3 31 AGT

26
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2014 16
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100
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SPC
)
AGT
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( 19
0.01
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@
(

IFRS

AGT
9,541
28,847
AGT

AGT

2019

2018 AGT

INT IFRS
IFRS
IFRS INT IFRS
(@) IFRS 15
AGT
2018 4 1

IFRS 15

IFRS 15

IFRS 15

8,240

IFRS )

2018
2018

AGT

AGT

97/355

12

Ooooooooooooooooooad

AGT

38,318
2018 8 1

IFRS
IFRS INT

AGT

IFRS 15
2017



EDINETOOOO
Oo0ooooooooobo0oDo0obDo0ooDo0oooo0o0bDo0g0oOoo(Ese783)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2019 31
@
(b) IFRS 9
2018 4 1
AGT 2018 2018 3 31 2018 4 1
IFRS 9
)
(M
AGT
AGT
AGT AGT
AGT
(i)

AGT

AGT
AGT
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2019 31

®
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AGT AGT

AGT
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2019 31

© « )

AGT

AGT

AGT

AGT AGT
AGT
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2019 31

© « )

AGT

AGT

AGT

AGT AGT
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2019 31

© « )

2018 4 1

AGT

4 b 1i AGT

AGT IFRS 9
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AGT

AGT
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2019 31
« )

@

AGT

17
12
12

©

AGT AGT

AGT
AGT
17
2018 3 31 IFRS 9

AGT IFRS 9
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2019 31
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AGT
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@
o
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2019 31
« )
@
@«
AGT
( )
AGT
( )
( )
( )
( )

( )

m
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2019 31
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2019 31

Q)

AGT (
) AGT

O)

®

Q)
AGT

AGT

AGT 98.99
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AGT

2019
146,033

AGT
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2014
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31
)

10
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2019 31
AGT 4,818
(2018 :1,720 )
©)
2014 AGT 89 (
SPC ) AGT 75,225
58,146 17,079
AGT 89
89
SPC
11
AGT SPC 13,144
2018
@

AGT
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17
AGT AGT
2019 2018 2019 2018
( ) ( ) ( ) ( )
— 10,812 — 3,062
11,275 — 2,949 —
62,369 62,803 148 148
AGT
AGT
AGT
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2019 31
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AGT
AGT
AGT
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AGT
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®
) (

AGT

2019 3 31

AGT

2019

@

AGT
2019 4 1

2019 3 31

« )
« )
AGT
IFRS 9
-—
30 30
60
— 3.8% —
1,712 131 —
®) —
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2018
AGT
90
2018 3 31 IAS 39 AGT
AGT
2018 3 31
30 1,154
1 3 210
3 1,232
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2019 31
« )
® « )
)
AGT
AGT
( ) ( ) ( )

AGT

2019
178 44,150 —
15 60 500
1,112 3,367 473
4,159 — —
9,541 29 —
524 337 5
15,529 47,943 978

AGT

2018
29,513 14,414 —
15 60 500
1,051 2,693 482
4,164 — —
10,539 31 —
522 — 5
45,804 17,198 987

2019 2018 3 31 AGT
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31
« )
« )
) « )
AGT
2019 3 31 1
2 5
( ) ( )
AGT
2019
10 —
AGT
2018
18 60
2019 31 AGT 8,240 2018 38,318
() 2,425 2018 2,584 ):
AGT
() 9,541 2018 10,521
AGT
SPC

AGT
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2019 31
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)
AGT
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2019 2018
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10 18
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2019 31
C )
®) C )
i)
AGT
AGT AGT
AGT 2018
AGT
2019 2018
( ) (

57,334 58,034

(8.515) (8,145)

48,819 49,889

64,270 80,155
0.89 0.72
0.76 0.62

AGT AGT
AGT 2019 2018
31
)
50 2014 20
49.0 ™

51.0
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2019 31
)
AGT
AGT
AGT
(
)
AGT
AGT
2019 2018
( ) ( )
250 254
11 —
) ( )
AGT
AGT
2019 2018
( ) ( )
( )
2 5,788 5,823
1,683 1,715
« 20 19 38
1,240 1,259
— 65
772 465
3( 22) 15 15
(GST ) 204 338
« 22 14 26
SPC 61 57
SPC 33 14
4 — 399
5 24 26
( )
4 6
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2019 31
) ( )
AGT
2019 2018
( ) ( )
( )
5,538 5,558
( )
16 16
1 2,237 485
1 134 23
16 66 17
— 145
— 78
1
AGT — 1,932
— 102
6 — 57
15 62
13 —
SPC 19 22
1. 2018
2017 2017 12
2. AGT
SPC
3. SPC 3.0 500
4. SPC
AGT AGT
5. SPC
AGT
AGT
SPC
6. ( ) SPC
SPC SPC
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2019 31
(
) ( ™
AGT ™
AGT
2019 2018
( ) ( )
( ™
9 100
SPC
AGT AGT
2019 2018 2018 2017
( ) ) ) ( )
1,080 858 — —
7,386 7,238 145 116
8,466 8,096 145 116
49 49 — —
8,515 8,145 145 116
2019 31 49 (2018 149 )
AGT SPC ( 12)
AGT
AGT AGT
2019 2018 2019 2018
( ) ) ) ( )
3,067 3,044 — _
(380) (448) — —
2,687 2,596 — —
_ — 2,804 2,946
2,687 2,596 2,804 2,946
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AGT AGT
2019 2018 2019 2018
( ) ( ) ( ) ( )
1,079 1,190 1 1
41 17 38 15
1,120 1,207 39 16
308 309 — —
17 67 — —
68 65 — —
2 4 _ _
395 445 — —
AGT
2019 2018
( ) ( )
75,447 75,447
(4,338) —
(9,115) —
61,994 75,447
AGT AGT 9,115
SPC

4 2018 3

4.5 2018

31 AGT
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2019 31
10
AGT
( ) ( ) ) ( ) )
2017 122,234 27,759 6,910 33 156,936
10 1,852 2,557 5 4,424
— 19 10 29) —
— (28) (302) 4 (334)
2018 31 122,244 29,602 9,175 5 161,026
7 1,126 2,366 265 3,764
— — 47 an —
— (26) (924) — (950)
2019 31 122,251 30,702 10, 664 223~ 163,940
2017 — 6,092 2,625 — 8,717
— 1,971 1,175 — 3,146
— — (273) — (273)
2018 31 — 8,063 3,527 — 11,590
— 1,849 1,403 — 3,252
— — (556) — (556)
2019 31 — 9,912 4,374 — 14,286
2017 31 1,199 394 90 — 1,683
1,363 289 68 1,720
2018 31 2,562 683 158 — 3,403
4,152 459 207 — 4,818
2019 31 6,714 1,142 365 — 8,221
2019 31 115,537 19,648 5,025 223 141,333
2018 31 119,682 20,856 5,490 5 146,033
AGT
4,818 (2018 1,720 )
(2018
7.0 11.8 2017 7.0 11.8
5.0
1,684 1,822 (2018 2,109 1,815
)
2019 31 AGT AGT
119,450 2018 132,630
12
2019 31 AGT ( 13)
4,190 (2018 3,712 )
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2019 31
11
AGT
( ) ( ) ( ) ( )
2017 17,079 33 32 17,144
— 129 — 129
2018 31 17,079 162 2 17,273
— 8 — 8
2019 31 17,079 170 32 17,281
2017 — 13 — 13
— 15 — 15
2018 31 - 28 — 28
— 31 — 31
2019 31 — 59 — 59
2017 — — — —
2018 31 — — — -
13,144 — — 13,144
2019 31 13,144 — — 13,144
2019 31 3,935 111 32 4,078
2018 31 17,079 134 32 17,245
SPC ( ©)
AGT
SPC
SPC
AGT 2018 DCF
2017 SPC

4.5 2018 4.8
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13,144
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2019 31
12
AGT
2019 2018
( ) )
— 29,100
— (253)
— 28,847
43,425 14,325
(904) @17)
42,521 14,108
42,521 42,955
AGT
2019 2018
( ) )
—_ 14,475
—_ 14,475
—_ 14,475
43,425 —
43,425 43,425
TIBOR 1.25
TIBOR 1.50
TIBOR 1.75
2019
2018 7 24 SPC 44,925 2
) 43,425 5
) 1,500 5
2018 8 1
TIBOR 1.95
2023 8
TIBOR 1.50 2019 3
31
AGT 3.10 2018 3012

AGT
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2019 31
13
AGT 2019 31 2018 3 o s 2018 a1
( ) ( ) ( ) ( )
1,112 1,051 1,103 983
3,367 2,693 3,236 2,572
473 481 404 472
2,952 4,225 4,783 4,027
(209) (198) — —
4,743 4,007 4,743 4,007
tz , (1,103 (983)
12 3,640 3,044
AGT ( 10
2019 3 31 490
(2018 847 ) 4,253 (2018 3,180 )
2019 3 31 6.9 (2018 7.0 ) AGT
AGT
( 10
2019 31
1.96 2018 2.49
14
AGT AGT
2019 2018 2019 2018
( ) ( ) ( ) ( )
1,1% 1,117 — —
— — 2 31
1,237 1,277 — —
) Y 1,071 1,201 — —
80 76 20 21
) Y 9 9 9 96
1,716 1,674 _ _

5,396 5,441 148 148
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2019 31
15
AGT
2019 2018
( ) ( )
9,570 10,552
(9,541) (10,521)
29 31
10 15
16
AGT
2019 2018
( ) ( )
2,425 2,584
622 629
— 1
( «» 164 164
323 319
231 326
186 63
282 49
4,233 4,135
5 5
416 75
421 80

134/355



EDINETOOOO
Oo0ooooooooobo0oDo0obDo0ooDo0oooo0o0bDo0g0oOoo(Ese783)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2019 31
17
AGT
2019 2018
( ) ( )

10 78

10 18

— 60

10 78

12
AGT
AGT
2019 3 31 6,475 (2018 24,125 ) 10
(2018 78 ) AGT
12
2019 31 78
18
AGT AGT AGT AGT
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
( ) ( ) ( ) ( )
/ 1,099,122,000 1,099,122,000 81,086 81,086 81,486 81,486

2015 3 31 SPC 4 AGT
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2019 31
20 (
2018 4 1
2019 3 31
34,251 — 34,251
12,762 — 12,762
479 3,242 3,721
47,492 3,242 50,734
2017 4 1
2018 3 31
34,234 — 34,234
12,499 — 12,499
525 3,602 4,127
47,258 3,602 50,860
2019 2018
16 2,425 2,584
2019 2018
16
2,584 2,769
IFRS 15 2018 3 31 2018 4 1

IFRS 15
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AGT
2019 2018
( ) ( )
1,357 1,380
2,358 2,321
804 775
701 766
5,220 5,242
1,380 ) 1,216 (2018 1,260 )
AGT
2019 2018
( ) ( )
881 817
C ) 15 15
)) 14 26
72 60
513 660
5 18
66 7
1,566 1,603
SPC AGT
20.42 (2018 20.42 )
AGT AGT
AGT
SPC
2018 31 34.60 (2018
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2019 31
23
@
AGT
2019 2018
( ) ( )
951 977
( 23(®) (1,242) (641)
(291) 336
®
AGT
2019 2018
( ) ( )
(12,784) 4,468
(2018 17 ) o (2,173) 760
(466) (1,005)
1,245 (291)
152 (105)
951 977
(291) 336
©
2019 3 31
AGT
( ) ( ) ( )
2017 31 — — —
( 23@) 59 — 59
2018 31 59 — 59
( 23(a)) (59) — (59)

2019 31 — — —
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2019 31
23
©
2017 31 27,620 448 28,068
¢ 23) (328) (254) (582)
2018 31 27,292 194 27,486
¢ 23 (1,301) — (1,301)
2019 31 25,991 194 26,185
AGT
SPC
34.60 SPC SPC
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2018 3.59
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29
AGT 2019 4 15 AGT
200,000
30 /
2019
AGT
(@) IFRS 16 (2019 )
IFRS 16
IFRS 16 (
)
AGT 2019 IFRS
2019 3 31 AGT
AGT
AGT
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(b) IFRIC 23 (2019 )
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION - GROUP AND AGT

As at 31 March 2018
Group. AGT
] 2019 2018 2018 2018
JEY milllon  JPY mison JPY milllon  JPT milbon
Current asssts
Cazsh and cash equivalents B B.515 8,145 145 116
Trade and other receivables T 2,687 2,508 2,804 2,046
Inveniones 4 281 - -
Other asaets a8 1,120 1,207 3 18
1ZE16 12279 2988 io7R

Non-current assots
Irveestrment in subsidiary g . - 61,994 5,447
Praperty, plan and equipmant 10 141,333 148,003 - -
Intangible assets 11 4,078 17,245 .
Other assets 8 a5 445 - -

145 808 163,723 61,8994 T5 447
Total assets 156,422 175,952 64,982 7B 525
Current Habilities
Bormowings from financial insbfutions 12 . 28 BAT
Finance lease payables 13 1,103 983 -
Trade and other payables 14 5,398 5441 148 148
Marnbeahip depasils 15 0,541 10,521 -
Currant mcome tax kabilites 573 602 573 602
Drerivative fnancial instruments 7 10 18 - -

Other kabililles 18 iﬁ 4,135 . :
50 547 TH 750

Hon-current labilities

Biormpwings fnom financial insbfulions 12 4251 14108 - -
Finance lease payables 13 3640 3044 - -
Bomowings from a nelated paty S(i) 500 500 - &
Marnbarsig depasis 15 ] 3 . H
Drefemed fax Mabilites 23c) 26,185 24T - -
Derivative fnanclal instrurments 17 . 60 . -
Cithar Eabilitics 16 421 B0

73,208 45250
Total liabdlities 94,152 85 TeT T T50
Het assels B4,270 B, 155 64,261 775
Equity
Unithaidars’ funds 18 81,086 B1,086 81,486 B1, 486
Cash fow hedging reserve - (TE) - -
Accumulisled losses [17,229) {17,225)
Equity attributable to Uniholders F
Non-controlling inberest 413 353 - -
Total equity 64,270 B0,155 64,261 TTTTS

The accompanying nofes form an integral part of these financial statements.
13
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

Group
Hote 219 2018
JPY million JPY miban

Revenue 20 50,734 50,860
Other oparating income 425 B0
Operating income 51,159 51,450
Amartization of iManpible sssats 24 (31) (15}
Assel manager's fee (98] 29y
Depreciabon of propery, plant and equipment 24 (3,259) (3,153)
Golf course mamienance and repair cost (2,574) (2,558)
Goll course management s (5,783 (5,823)
Impainment loss on gaadwill (13,144) -
Impasment losa on property, plant and equipment (4,818) (1,720)
Labow and oulsoureng expanse {16,538) {16,367)
Marchandise and matetial expense (3,521) (3,560)
Operating lease expense 2T {1,926) (1,995)
Other cperaling expenses (3,073) (2.411)
Seliing, | and administrative expense b | 15220 (5,242
Trustee-Manager's fee [250) {254)
LItiky expense (2,140) (2182
Operaling expenss {62,377 (45,3791
Cperating profit {11,218) 6071
Interast expense and ofher finance costs 2 {1,566) {1,603
{Loss) profit before income tax (12,784) 4,468
Income tax beneft expenae) 23a) P2l Iﬁ
(Loss)profit for the year 12,4539) 4,
Other comprehensive income, net of income tax
tems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or
hoss!
Unrealisad gain on change in fair value of cash low hedging

financial instruments 7 T8 123
Other comprahensaive income for the year, net of tax il 123
Total comprehensive (loss)income for the year {12,415) a4 255

{Loss) profil for the year attributable to
Linithoiders {12,553) 4,095

MNon-controlling interast &0 w
12 45%) 3 )
Total comprehensive (loss)income for the year
attributable to
Lnitheicdars {12,475) 4218
Non-controlling intenost BO a7
TTZATE] T8
(LossVeamings per unil atifibutable ta Unithalders (JPY) 25 11.42) 373
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
14
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

COMSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

Group
2019 2018
JPY miillion JPY million

Cash flows from operating activities

{Lossprofit for the year (12,493) 4132
Adjustents fod
Allowance for doubtiul trade recaivables (6T) 104
Depreciation and amaorisation expansa 3,290 3168
Gain on forfeifure of membership deposits (15} (26)
Impairment loss on goodwill 13,144 -
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment 4,818 1,720
Income tax (benefit)expense {291) 338
Interest expense and other finance costs 1,566 1,603
Imterest income - (1)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equspment 19 25
Operating cash flow before change in working capital 9.9 11,061
Change in working capitak:
Trade and other receivables (B8) 52
Oither assets 161 163
Inventories {12) (25)
Trade and other payables {142) {233)
Other liabilites 102 {448)
Cash generatad from operations 10,012 10,569
Interest and other finance costs paid (379) (915)
Income tax paid {380} {1,280
Net cash provided by operating activities 8,053 8,364
Cash flows from investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (Mote A) {1,311) {2.230)
Desposal of proparty, plant and equipmant (Note B) 12 4
Addiions (o intangible assets (18} {114)
Met cash used in investing aclivities {1.317) {2.340)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings from Anancial institutions 43,425 -
Repayment of bormawings from financial insbitutions (43,425) {450)
Bomowing fransaction costs paid {947) {384)
Repayment of membership deposits {1,034) (1,937)
Repayment of inance leasa payables (925) (B64)
Decrease in bank deposit pledged 10 -
Distribution to unithciders (3,470) (4, 696)
Met cash used in financing activities {6,366) (8,131)
Mot increaseldecrease) in cash and cash equivalents 370 (2,107}
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial
year (Mote &) 8,096 10,203
Cash and cash eguivalents at the end of the financial year
(Note &) 8,466 8,085

The accompanying nofes form an integral part of these financial statements.
17
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

COMSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

Reconciliation of liabilities arizing from financing activities

Proceads Mon-cath change
A | and e s o h : 3
i and interest bomowings
2018 | payments oather | wisrest | Amomsaton ";i']'f;"
ables EXpETLE of facilty fee
JPY JFY M]p-,' JBY Jr:"f JPY
milian millicn million milian millon miflion
Borrowngs
fram
financial
Insttions 42 855 [ 3T2) &3 475 = = 513 a2 581
Financa
leiane
payables 4027 6530 - - a8 - 4,743
Mambarship
deposils 10,552 {1,034) - 47 5 - 9,570
Procesds Nen D
Principal from i ges n
1 Aprl | and interest bomowings March
20T | paymwents piri-~f NFUSES [—
of 1a fer
Py JPY | 4 JPY
| rmilian mullion million milian ko millizn
Bavrowings
from
financal
institutions | 43,128 {1,152 . . 318 660 | 42855
Finance
lease
payables 2878 1,063 - - ] - & 02T
Membarship
depoaits 12 036 {1,837 - 435 18 - 10 552

hote AL

During the current financial year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with an
aggregate cost of approsamately JPY 3,764 malion (2018: JPY 4,424 million), of which JPY 2,008
million (2018: JPY 1,841 million) was acquired under finance lease arrangements and JPY 444
million (2018; JPY 410 mallion) remains unpaid as at year end,

Mote B:

During the current financial year, the Group disposed property, plant and equipment to Accordia
Golf Co., Lid (the “Sponsor’), with sales proceeds of JPY 375 milion {2018: JPY 36 million), of
which JPY 363 milion (2018: JPY 32 milkon) was offset against finance lease obligation to the
Sponsor.

The accompanying noles form an integral part of these financial statermenis.
18
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

These motes form an integral pan of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying
financial statements.

1 General information

AGT is 2 business trust constituted on 16 June 2014 under the laws of the Republic of
Singapore, registered under Chapter 314 of the BETA. The address of its principal place of
business and registered office is B0 Robinson Road #22-034A, Singapore 068808, The
financial statements are expressed in Japanese Yen ("JPY"), the functional currency of
AGT, and rounded to the nearest milkon

AGT is managed by the Trusiee-Manager, which is 40% hald by Accordia Golf Co., Lid. {the
*Sponsor’) and 51% held by Daiwa Real Estate Asset Management Co, Ltd, {the “TM
Partner’). a wholly-owned subsidiary of Daiwa Securities Group Inc. The TM Partner is
also the asset manager of the initial portfolio, comprising golf courses and golf course
related assets.

AGT was admitted to the Main Board of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited (“SGX-ST7) and was listed on the SGX-5T on 1 August 2014 ("Listing Date”).

AGT is established with the principal investment strategy of investing, directly or
indirectly, in the business of owning a porifolio of stabilised, income-generating golf
courses, drving ranges, and golf course related assets workdwide with an nitial focus
on Japan.

The Trustee-Manager has acquired the golf courses and golf course related assets
which are owned by a special purpose wvehicle (the “Initial Porifolio”) through the
acquisiion of Tokumei Kumiai interest (the “TK Inferest’) from the Sponsor on the
Listing Date, The special purpose vehicle is established in the form of & Japanese
limited liability company known as Gode Kaisha (the “SPC°, "GK, or “TK Operator™). All
of its membership interests (i.e. voling rights, namely “GK Interest™) in the SPC are held
by a general incorporated association known as an |ppan Shadan Hegin (*ISH"), a type
of special purpose vehicle under Japanese law. The voting rights of the ISH are held by
certified public accountants who are members of the Tokyo Kyodo Accounting Office.
The certified public accountants are independent and not subject to the instruction of
any party. The role of the cerified public accountants is to carry out limited corporate
administrative work to maintain such function of the I5H.

The relationship between AGT and the TK Operator is governed by the Tokumei Kumiai
Agreement (TK Agreement’). AGT. as the investor, will prowde funds to the TK
Operator in return for the right to receive distribution of profit generated from the
operation of the GK. Under the TK Agreement, the net income of the TK business,
comprising principally the income generated from the golf course business, will be
passed up to AGT, AGT & enbtled to 98 85% of the profits and losses of such business,
while the shareholder of the TK Operator and Qi (as disclosed in Mote 19) are entitied
io 1% and 0.01% of the allocated profits and losses raspectively, AGT is, therefore,
entifled to receive substantially all of the economic interest from the TK Operator,

19
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

1 General information (contnued)

The Trustee-Manager has assessed the economic reality of AGT and its investment
activities through the TK Operator and concluded that AGT has the ability to use is power
to affect its returns from the TK Operator pursuant to the TK Agreement Accordingly,
the TK Operator is considered as a subsidiary, The consobdated financial statements of
AGT and its subsidiary are presented by eonsolidating AGT and the TK Operator (tagethar
refermed to as the "Group”)

The consclidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial
position of AGT for the financial year ended 21 March 2019 weare authorised for issua by
the Board of Directors of the Trustee-Manager on 26 June 2018,

2 Significant accounting policies
{a) Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with [Intermational
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS™) under the histoncal cost convention, except as
disclased in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Trusiee-
Manager to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies. It also requires the use of certain c¢ntical accounting estimates and
assumphons. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexaty, or areas
where assumphons and estimates are signficant to the financial statements are
disclosed in Note 2.

Going concem

As at 31 March 2019, the Group is in @ net current lizbiliies position of JFY 8,240 millian
{2018: net cument liabifiies position of JPY 38,318 milion), which is contributed mainly
by cument membership deposits liabdites of JPY 9,541 million (2018: contribuied mainty
by bank borrowings of JPY 28,847 million that are repayable in August 2018). The
financial statements have been prepared on a going concemn basis as the directors of
the Trustee-Manager expect that the Group will be able to meet its liabiliies as and
whan they fall due. Based on the Group's forecasted cash flows, the directors of the
Trustee-Manager are of the opinion that the Group has adequate cash inflows from its
operations to satfle its expected operating cash outflows and interest expenses in the
next twelve months.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

2 Significant accounting policies (contmued)
{a) Basis of preparation {continued)
Interpretations and amendments fto published standards effective in 2019

On 1 April 2018, the Group adopted the new or amanded IFRS and Interpretations of IFRS
{"INT IFRS") that are mandatory for application for the financial year, Changes o the
Group's accounting policies have been made as required, in accardance with relevant
transitional provisions in the respective IFRS and INT IFRS.

The sdoption of these new or amended IFRS and INT IFRS did not result in substantal
changes to the accounting policies of the Group and AGT and had no material effect on
the amounts reported for the current or priar financial years except for the following;

{a) Adoption of IFRS 15 Revenue fram Conifracts with Customers

The Company has adopted the new standard using the modified refrospective
approach with the cumulative impact of the adoption recognised in the opening
retained eamings at 31 March 2018, Comparative information for 2017 are not
restated,

The aceaunting policies for revenue from contracts with customers under IFRS 15
are disclosed in Note 2{m),

The effects on adopbion of IFRS 15 are as follows:
0] Accounting for contract liabilities

Annual membership fees billed in advance of the rendering of services are
recognised as contract liabilities, Prior to the adoption of IFRS 15, these
were presented in the statement of financial position as unearned
membearship revenue in other liabditbes.

k) Adoption of IFRS & Financial Instruments

The Company has adopted the new standard retrospectively from 1 April 2018, in line
with the transition provision pemutted under the standards. Comparatives for financial
year ended 2018 are not restated and the Company has recognised any difference
between the carrying amounts at 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 in the opening
retained earnings.

The accounting policies for financial instruments under IFRS 9 are disclosed in Note
2ic).
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

2 Significant accounting policies (contmued)
{b) Group accounting

Subsidiaries

il Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has
control, The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has nghts to,
variable returns from As invoivement with the enfity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity, Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control s transferred to the Group. They are deconsalidated
fram the date on that control ceases.

In preparing the consclidated financial statements, transactions, belances and
unreslised gains on transactions between group entities are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaclion provides evidence of
an impairmenl indicator of the transferred assel. Accounbtng policias of
subsidianes have been changed where necessary 1o ansure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group,

Mon-controlling interasts comprise the portion of a subsidiary's net results of
operations and its net assets, which is atiributable to the interests that are not
awned direclly or indirectly by the equity holders of the Company, They are
shown separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equty, and balance sheet Taotal comprehensive
income is attributed to the non-controlling interests based on their respective
interests in a subsidiary, even if this results in the non-contralling intarasts
having a deficit balance.,

] Acquisitions

The acquisiion method of accounting is used to account for business
combinations enterad into by the Group

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary or business
comprses the far value of the assets transferred, the liahilities incurred and the
efuity inferests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred also
inciudes any contingent consideration arrangement and any pre-existing aquity
interest in the subsidiary measured at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Acquisibon-related costs are expensed as incurmed.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilibes assumed in a

business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

2

()

ic)

Significant accounting policies (contmued)
Group accounting (continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)

jil  Acquisitions (confinued)

On an acquisilion-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any
noncontrolling interest in the acquirees at the date of acquisition either at fair valug
or af the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquirese's
identifiable net assets.

The excess of (8) the consideration transferred, the amount of any
nencontrolling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquires over the (b) fair value of the identifiable net
assels acquired is recorded as goodwill. Flease refer to Mote 2(i) for the
subsegquent accounting policy on goodwill

i} Disposals

When a change in the Group's ownership interest in a subsidiary results in a
loss of control aver the subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary
including any goodwill are derecognised. Amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect of thal entity are also reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred directly to retained eamings if required by a specific
Standard,

Any retained  equity inferest in the entity is remeasured at fair value, The
difference batween the carrying amount of the retained interest at the date whean
contral i5 lost and its fair valua is recognised in profit or koss.

Transactions with non-controlling inferests

Changes in the Group's ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not resultin a less of control
over the subsidiary are accounted for as transactions with equity owners of the Company.
Any difference between the change in the carrying amounis of the nonconiralling interest
and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised within equity attributable
to the equity holders of the Company.

Financial instruments recognition, measurement and derecognition
Financial assets and financial liabilites are recognised on the statement of financial

position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
insirumeants,
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

2 Significant accounting policies (contmued)
c) Financial instruments recognition, measurement and derecognition (continued)
The accounting for financial instruments before 1 April 2018 are as follows:

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initizslly measured at fair value, Transachon
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabiliies (other than financial assets and financial liakaities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or daducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabiities, 55 approprate, on inital recognition.

Transaction costs directly aftributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immeadiately in profit or loss.,

Effective interest method

The effective inferest methad is @ method of calculating the amorised cost of a financial
instrument and of allocating interest income or expense over the relevant peried. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments (including all fees on points paid or received thal form an integral pan of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorer period. Income and
expanse |5 recognised on an effactive interest basis for debt instruments other than those
financial instrurments “at fair value thiough profit of loss”,

Financial assets

All fimancial assels are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date basis whene the
purchase or sale of an investmant is under a contract whose terms require delivary of
fhe investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are
initiafly measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets
clazsified as ai fair value through profit or loss which are initially measured at fair value.

Loans and receivables

Trade and cther receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market are classified as “loans and receivables”. Loans and receivables
{including trade and other receivables, bank balances and cash) are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest income s
recognised by applying the effective interast method, except for shortterm receivables when the
effect of decounting is immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting
pericd. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

2 Significant accounting policies (contmued)
c) Financial instruments recognition, measurement and derecognition (continued)
Financial assets (confinued)

Impairment of inancial assets (continuad)

For all financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

- significant financial difficulty of the issuer or countenparty; o

- breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or prncipal payments;
o

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptey or financial re-

organisation,

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are
assessed not to be impaired individually are, in addition assessed for impainrment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a porticlio of receivables could
include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the averape credit penod, as well as
observable changes in national or local economic conditions that comelate with default
on recaivables,

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss
recognised is the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of
estmated future cash fiows, discounted at the onginal effectve interest rata,

The carying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for
all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables where the carmying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a frade receivable is
uncollectinle, it is written off against the aflowance account Subsequent recoveries of
amaounts previously written off are credited against the allowance accounl. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recogrised m prafif or loss,

For financial assets measuwred at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent penod, the amount
of the Impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairmant was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the camying amount
of the investnant at the date the impairment is reversed does not excead what the
amorlised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

2 Significant accounting policies (contmued)
c) Financial instruments recognition, measurement and derecognition (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial asseis

The Group derecognises a financisl asset when the contractual nights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the nsks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of cwnership and continues to contral the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay, If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group confinues to recognise
the finencial asset and also recognises a collateralised bomowing for the proceeds
received.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Finansial iabiliies and equity instruments issued by the Group are dassified according fo the
substance of the contractual arrangemenﬁ entered into and the definitions of a financial
liabilty and an equity instrument,

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its lisbilties., Equity insiruments are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Fmancial liahilibes

Financial liabilties (including finance lease payables, frade and oiher payables and
membership deposits) are initially measured at fair value, net of fransaction costs and are
Bl.lltirstf.hqLlF.'l'l‘l!I:,,r measured at amortised {H)'S‘t, using the effectve inferast malim-d, with interest
expense recognised on an effective yield basis

Interast-besnng bank borowings are initislly measured at fair value, and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. Interest
expense calculated using the effective interest method is recognised aver the term of
the borrowings in accordance with the Group's accounting palicy for borrowing costs,

Demcoggtun of financial liabalities

The Group derecognises financial labilites when, and only when, the Group's
obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired,
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

2 Significant accounting policies (contmued)
c) Financial instruments recognition, measurement and derecognition (continued)
The accounting for financial instruments from 1_April 2018 are as follows:

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initizslly measured at fair value, Transachon
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabiliies (other than financial assets and financial liakaities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or daducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabiities, 55 approprate, on inital recognition.

Transaction costs directly aftributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immeadiately in profit or loss.,

Effective interest method

The effective inferest methad is @ method of calculating the amorised cost of a financial
instrument and of allocating interest income or expense over the relevant peried. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments (including all fees on points paid or received thal form an integral pan of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorer period. Income and
expEnse s recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those
financial instrurments “at fair value thiough profit of loss”,

Financial assets

All fimancial assels are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date basis whene the
purchase or sale of an investmant is under a contract whose terms require delivary of
fhe investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are
initiafly measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets
clazsified as ai fair value through profit or loss which are initially measured at fair value.

Amarised cost

Trade and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not
quated in an active market are classified as cammed at amortised cost. These financial
assets (including trade and cther recelvables, bank balances and cash) are measured at
amortised cost using the affective interast method less impairment. Interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interesi method, except for short-term
receivables when the effect of discounting 18 immatenal.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

2 Significant accounting policies (contmued)
c) Financial instruments recognition, measurement and derecognition (continued)
Financial assets (confinued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on 2 forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated
with its debt financial assels camed at amortised cost, The mpairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has bean a significant increase in credit risk, Note
4 (bii)) defails how the Group determines whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk.

For trade and other receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by
the IFRS 8, which requires expected lifetime losses fo be recognised from initisl
recognition of the receivables,

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the confractual rights to the cash flaws from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 1o control the
fransferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an assocated
hability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the nsks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borowing for the proceeds
recaived.,

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equety

Fmancial kabilities and equity instruments isswed by the Group are dassified acconding to the
substance of the contractual arrangements enterad into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument

EEEEI instrurmeants

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its lisbilties. Equity instruments are recorded at the
proceads received, net of direct issue costs,

Fmancial habilibas

Financial habilites (incleding finance |ease payables, trade and other payables and
membership deposits) are intally measured at fair value, net of transaction costs and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, with interest
expanise meoognised on an effective yield basis.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

2 Significant accounting policies (contmued)

c) Financial instruments recognition, measurement and derecognition (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continued)
Financial liabilibes (continuad)
Interest-beanng bank borrowings are intially measured at fair value, and are
subsequently measured at amertised cost, using the effective interest method. Interest
expense calculated using the effective interest method is recognised over the term of
the bomrowings in accordance with the Group's accounting policy for bomowing costs.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group's
obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired,

{d) Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters into a variety of denvative fnancial instruments to manage its
exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate risk, including interest rate swaps.
Further details of dervative financial instruments are disclosed in Note 17 to the
financial statements.

Denvatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a denvatve contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each
reporting perod, The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately
unlass the denvative is designated and effecive as a hedging instrument, in which event
the fiming of the recegnition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge
relationship.

A denvative is presented as & non-curment assel or a non-current liability if the remaining
maturity of the instrument s more than 12 months and it s not expected 1o be realised
or seftled within 12 months. Other dervatives are presenied as cument assets or current
liabilties

{2) Hedge accounting

The activities of the Group expose it pamarily fo the financal risks of changes in interest rates,
The Group uses interest rate swap agreements 1o hedge the exposure. Those contracts
that can also be settled in cash are treated as financial instruments, The Group does not
use derivatve financial nstruments for speculative purposes. The use of leveraged
instruments s nat permatted.

At the inception of the hedge relationship the entity documents the relationship batween the
hedging instrument and the hedged item, along with its isk management objectives and its
strateqy for undertaking vanous hedge transactions,
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

2 Significant accounting policies (contmued)
e} Hedge accounting {continuad)

Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge amd on an ongoing basis, the Group
documents whether tha hedging instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is
highly effective in offsatting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item

Note 17 contains details of the fair values of the derivative instruments used for hadging
PUrPQSEs,

The hedges in-placed as at 31 March 2018 gualified respectively as cash flow hedge
under IFRS 9 The Group's management strategies and hadge documentation are
aligned with the requirements of IFRS 9 and are thus treated as centinuing hedges,

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and
qualify as cash flow hedges s recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss as part of other
gains and losses,

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are
reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged iem is recognised in profit
of loss in the same line of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehansive
income as the recognised hedged item, However, when the forecast transaction that is
hedaed results in the recognition of a non-financal asset or a non-financial hability, the
gains and losses previously accumulated in equity are transferred from equity and
includad in the inital measurement of the cost of the assat or liability.

Hedge acecounting i& discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging ralabenship,
the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies
for hedge accounting. Any gain or 055 accumulated in equity at that time remains in
equity and when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss, such
gains and losses are recegnised in profit or loss, or transfemred from equity and included
in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability as described above. When
a forecast transaction s no longer expecled to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that
was accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

{f) Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer

substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as cperating leases.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

2 Significant accounting policies (contmued)
if Leases (continued)
The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair
value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease
payments. The comesponding liability to the lassor is included in the consolidated
statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. Lease paymenis arg
apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease cbligalion so as to
achisve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability, Finance
charges are charged directly to profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to
qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group's
general policy on borrowing costs (see note (n) below), Contingent renizls are
recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incumed

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease, unless another syslemalic basis is more
representative of the time pattemn in which economic benefits from the leased asset are
consumad. Contingant rentals arising under operaling leases are racognised as an
expeanse in the period in which they are incurred

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such
incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentves is
recognised as a reducticn of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the tme pattem in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

a) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, Cost comprises
restaurant supplies. Cost is calculated using the first-in-first-out method. Met realisable
value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs
to be incurred in marketing, selling and distibution.

{h) Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Excepl for golf
course land and construction in progress, they are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, The cost of an tem of
property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that
future ecanomic benefits associated with the tem will flow to the Group and the cost of the
itam can be measured reliably,

When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced, the
Group recogrises such parts as indwvidual assets with specific useful lives if the
recognition crtera are satisfied, All other repair and mamtenance costs are mecognised in
profit or loss as incurmed.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

2

{h)

i)

Significant accounting policies (contmued)
Property, plant and equipment (continuead)

Goll course land comprise of freehold land plus any other costs that are directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the [ocation and condition necessary for it to be
capable of aperating in the manner intended by management.

Golf course land and construction in progress are not depreciated and are initially
reconded at cost, and subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets (other than freehold land and
construction in pregress) less their residual values over their useful lives, using the
strzight-ine method, on the following bases:

Building and structures - 1 to 56 years
Machinery, vehicles and fixtures - 110 25 years

Depreciation on assets under construction in progress commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use

The carying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impaimrment when
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the camying walue may not be
recoverable,

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each
financial year-end, with the effect of any changes in estimated accounied for on a prospective
basis.

Assels held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the
same basis as owned assets or, if there is no cerainty that the lessee will obtain
ocwnership by the end of the lease term, the asset shall be fully depreciaied over the
shorter of the lease term and its useful life.

An itemn of property, plant and equipment is derecognised wupon digposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the continuad use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment =
determined as the differance batween the sales procesds and the carrying amount of the asset
and is recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill

Goodwill ansing on an acquisition of a business is carmed at cost as established at the date
of acquisition of the business less accumulated impairment losses, f any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goadwill is allocated to the Group's cash-
ganarating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

2 Significant accounting policies (contmued)
(i) Goodwill (contnued)

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.
If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit i less than its camying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated 1o the unit and then to the other assats of the unit pro rata based on tha
camying amoun of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill i recognisad
directly in profit or lass. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the atiributable amount of goodwall is
included in the detarmination of the profit or loss on disposal.

i) Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired saparately are repored atl cost |less accumulated
amortisation (where they have finite useful lives) and accumulated impairment losses.
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimatled useful ives, The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each amnual reporting pericd, with the effect of any changes in estimate
being accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
that ans acquired saparately are carmed at cost less accumlated impairmeant losses.

(k) Impairrment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the and of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an mpairment loss, If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is astimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estmates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate asseis are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units. or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating wnits for which a reasonable and consisient allccation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs (o sell and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects cument market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated 1o be less than
its camying ameount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced
toits recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediatedy in profit or loss.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

2

(k)

{1

(m)

Significant accounting policies (contmued)
Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill (continued)

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the camying amount of the asset (or a
cash-generaling unil) is increased to the revised eslimate of its recoverable amount, but
so that the increased carrying amount does not excesd the carmying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impaimment loss i recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has 3 present obligation  (legal or
constructive) a5 a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be reguired to
seftle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation

The amount recognised as & provision is the best estimate of the consideration required fo
seftie the present obligation at the end of the reporting penod, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows
eslimated to settle the present obligation, s carrying amount is the present value of
thosa cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be
recovered from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimoursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises golf course revenue, restaurant revenue and membership revenue,
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration recenved or receivable,

Golf course revenue

The Group operates a portfolio of golf courses. Revenue from golf course fees is
recognised at a point in time when the golf course is made available for play for the
custamer,

Payment of the transaction price is due immediately when the customer canfirms the golf
play slot.

Restaurant revenue

Fevenue from resisurant revenue is recognised &t a pomt in timea when the services are
rendared,

Fayment of the transaction pnce is due immediately when the services are rendered
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

{m)

{n)

P

(q)

Significant accounting policies (contmued)
Revenue recognition {conftinued)
Membership revenue

Membership revenue consists of annual membership fees and membership enrclment and
fransfer fees.

Revenue from annual membership fees are recognised over tme on a straight ine basis over
the penod in which the membership fees are paid.

Annual membership fees billed in advance would result in 3 contract liabdity, A contract
liability is recognised unfil the end of the annual membership period paid for,

Revenue from membership enmiment and membership transfer fees are recognised at a
point in time when new members are admitted or transferred.

Borrowing costs

All borrawing costs are recognised in profit or 1085 in the period in which they are
incurred,

Retirement benefit cost

FPayments to defined contributions retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense
whan employees have rendered the services entitling them to the contnbutions.

Employes leave entitlernent

Employee entifflements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liabdity for annual leave as a result of services renderad
by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Taxation

Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected to be
paid to or recoverad from the tax authonties, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date

Deferred income tax is recognised for all temparary differences anising between the tax bases
of assets and hiabilites and their carrying amounts in the financial statements except when
the defarred income tax arises from the iniial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not & business combination and affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss at the time of the transaction.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

2 Significant accounting policies (contmued)
(a) Taxation (continued)

A defered income flax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiary, except where the Group is able 1o control the timing of the
ravarsal of the temparary differance and it is probabla that the temparary differance will not
reverse in the foresesable future.

A deferred income tax asset is recogmised o the extent that it s probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the deductble temporary differences and tax
losses can be utilised,

Deferred income tax is measured:

{1} at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset i realised or the deferred income tax liabilty is setifed, based on tax rates and
tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date;
and

i} based on the tax consequence that will follow fram the manner in which the
Group expects, at the balance sheet date, to recover or settle the carrying
amounts of its assets and habilties except for investment propedies. Investment
property measured at fair value is presumed o be recovered entirely through
sale,

Currant and deferred income taxes are recognisad as income of expanse in profit or lass,
except to the extent that the tax arises from a business combination or a transaction
which is recognised directly in equity, Defarred tax ansing from a business combination is
adjusted against goodwill on acquisition,
The Group accounts for investment tax credits (for example, producthvity and innovative cradi)
similar io accounting for other tax credits where deferred tax asset s recognised for unused
tax credits to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the unused tax credit can be ulilised.

{r} Foreign currency transactions and translation

Functonal and presentation currency

ltemns included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using
the cumrency of the pnmary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional
cumency”). The financial statements are presented in Japanese Yen (“JPY"), which is the
functional currency of AGT.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

2 Significant accounting policies (contmued)
ir} Foreign currency transactions and translation (continued)
Transactions and balances

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency™) are
franslated into the functional currency wsing the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions. Currency exchange differences resulting from the settement of such
transactions and from the ftranslation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies st the closing rates at the balance sheet date are recognised n profit
or kss. Monetary items include primanly financial assets (other than equity
investments), confract assets and financial liabilties, However, in the consolidated
financial statements, curency translation differences ansing from bommowings in foreign
cumrencies and other currency instrumants designated and qualifying as net investment
hedges and net investment in foreign operations, are recognised in  other
comprahansive incomea and accumulated in the currency translation reserve,

When a foreign operation is disposed of or any loan forming part of the net investment
of the foreign cperation is repaid, a proportionate share of the accumulated curmency
translation differences is reclassified to profit er loss, as part of the gain or loss on
disposal

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the
income statement within “finance experse”. All ather foreion exchange gains and |osses
impacting profit or loss are presented in the income statement within “other losses”,

Man-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchanage rates at the date when the fair values are datermined.

{8} Levies

Property tax is imposed on the registered owner of the property as at 1 January each
yvear, and the lability regarding property tax s recognised in full on the levied date as
the obligating event that gives rise lo the liability s the activity that tnggers the payment
of levy as identified by legislation. Accordingly, the total amount of property tax is
recognised in full in profit or loss during the period when the property tax is levied,

it) Cash and cash equivalents in the staternent of cash flows

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated stalement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand and demand deposits, which are subject to an
insignificant ek of change in value. For cash subjectad to restriction, assessment is made
on the aconomic substance of the restriction and whather they meat the definition of cash and
cash equivalents.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

2 Significant accounting policies (contmued)
{u) Distribution policy

The distribution of AGT is based on the cash flow it receives from the TK Operator
pursuant 1o its TK Interest under the TK Agreement entered into with the TK Operator. Due to
the differance batwean cash flow and accounting profits of the TK Opesator, the cash flaw
received by AGT may comprise profits from the TK Operatar's operations and return of capital
from the T Interast.

Under the TK Agreement, AGT will be entitled to 98.99% of the profits of the TK
business and such profits are subject fo a withholding tax at a rate of 20.42% when
distributed to AGT. Return of capital from the TK Interest is generally nof taxable as long as
the accumulated return of capital is lower than the ariginal cost of investment by AGT. After
deducting expenses at the AGT level, such as the Trustee-Manager's fee and ofher trust
expenses, the residual cash fliow is avaiable for distibution to Unitholders as
distrbutable income,

AGT's distribution policy is to distribute 100,0% of AGT's distributable income for the
pencd from 1 August 2014 to 31 March 2015, Thereafter, the Trustee-Manager will
distrbute at least 80.0% of AGT's distnbutable income, with the actual level of
distribution o be determinad at the Trustee-Manager Board's discretion, having regard to
funding requirements, other capital management considerations and ensunng the overall
stability of distnbutions.

3 Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements

Estimales, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed o be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Non-depreciation of property, plant and equipment - Golf course land

As at 31 March 2018, the carrying value of property, plant and equipment are JPY
141,333 million (2018: JPY 146,033 million), as disclosed in Mote 10 to the financial
staterments. All items of propery, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less
accumnulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cast of praperty, plant and equipmeant, adjusted for
residual value, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight line method. The
Trustee-Manager exercise their judgement in estimating the useful lives and residual
values of the deprecable assets. The estmated wuseful Wves reflect the
TrusteaiManager's estimate of the period that the Group intends to derive future
ecanamic banefits from the use of the depreciable assets.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

3 Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements (continued)
{a) Non-depreciation of property, plant and eguipment - Golf course land {continued)

The Group's golf courses reside on a mixture of freehold land of approximately 76% (2018:
T6%) and leasehold land of approximately 24% (2018. 24%). The lease periods of the
leazehold land are for an initial tern of 20 years. The leases have been subsegquently
renewed based on the same conditions of the onginal lease agreements. There are no terms
or conditions in the leasa agreements in ralation 1o the lerminaton of tha lease agreaments
during the leasa term and there have been no pror cases of termination during the lease
term. The Trustee-Manager s of the view that it is reasonably certain that the Group will
be able to renew the leases in order to derive future economic benefits from the use of the
golf courses. Accordingly, golf coursa land ks accounted for as a non-depreciable asset

{b) Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment

The Trustee-Manager reviews the camying values of property, plant and equipment for
impairmant when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value
may not be recoverable, If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of the
assets are estmated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, il any. The
recoverable amount s the higher of an asset's faif value lass costs 1o sell and value i
use,

In assessing the recoverable amount of the assets, significant judgements are used to
estmate the future cash flows generated from the golf courses and the discount rates
appled in the discounted cash fiow analysis. In making these judgements, the
TrusteaManager has relied on the past pedormances of the golf courses and its
expectations of market development. Specific estimates are disclosed in Note 10,

Far the current finandal year, the Group recarded an impairment kass on proparty, plant and
equipment amounting to JPY 4,818 millien (2018 JPY 1,720 millien). Management is of the
vigny the impairmeant loss recorded is reasonable and adaquate.

c) Impairment assessment of goodwill

On 1 August 2014, AGT acquired Accordia Golf Asset Godo Kaisha ("SPCT) which owns
a portfolio of B8 golf courses across Japan, As a result of the acquisition, the Group
recorded goodwill of JPY 17,073 million, which is the difference between purchase
consideration of JPY 75,225 milion and fair value of net assets acquired of JPY 58,145
millicin.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

3 Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements (continued)
ic) Impairment assessment of goodwill {continued)
Goodwill has been atfributed to synergies ansing from:

centralised utilisation of galf course maintenance equipmeant among golf coursas
within the same regicn;

centralisatian of all major pricing, purchasing, marketing, advertising and human
resource decisions, except for hiring of operational siaff;

ceniralised procurement system whereby majonty of the food and supplies across
the all golf courses are purchased,

centralised membership loyalty points system across all golf courses.

The Trustee-Manager has idenfified each golf course as a separate cash-generating unit
{("CGLU") for the purpose of impairment testing. As the 89 golf courses benefit from the
synergies, the Trustee-Manager cannot allocate the goodwill to each of the 39 golf courses,
except on an arbitrary basis. The combingtion of 89 CGUs represents the lowest level
at which the Trustee-Manager captures information, for internal management
reporting purposes, about the benefits of the goodwill.

The assumptions and judgament invohved in estimating the recoverable amount of SPC
include discount rate, revenue growth rate and terminal growth rate. These assumptions and
judgement are disclosad in MNate 11

For the current financial year, the Group recorded an impairment loss on goadwill
amounting ta JPY 13,144 million (2018; JPY Nil) against the goodwill 2llocated fo the SPC
CGU. The Trustee-Manager is of the view the impairment loss recorded is reasonable
and adeguate,

{d) Uncertain tax positions

The Group is subject to income taxes in Japan and Singapore. In determining the
income tax liabilities, the Trustee-Manager has estimated the amount of capital
allowances and the deductibility of centain expensas (‘uncertain tax positions”) at each tax
jursdichon.

As the Trustee-Managar balieves that the tax positions are sustainabla, the Group has not
recognised any additional tax liability on these uncertain tax positions.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

4

a)

(b)

Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risk management

Financial instruments by category

The canmying amounts of inancial assets measured at fair value are disclosed on the face
of the balance sheet and in Note 17 to the financial statements.

The aggregate camying amount of loans and receivables, financial assets and liabilities at
amortised cost are as follows:

Group
2019 2018
JPY million  JEY million
Loans and recevables - 10812
Financial assets at amortised cost 11,275 -
Financial liabilities al amortised cost 62,369 G2 803
AGT
2019 2018
JPY milbon  JPY mlion
Loans and receivablas - 3,062
Financial assels at amortised cost 2,945 -
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 148 148

Financial risk management policies and objectives

The Group's activities expose it to market risk (including foreign currency risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management
strategy focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise the
potential adverse effects of changes in the financial markets on the financial
peformance of the Group, Risk managemant is camed out by the responsible antity of the
Group under intemal management palicies.

The Trustee-Manager identifies, evaluates and manages financial risks and provides
guidelines for overall sk management, covering specific areas, such as mitigating
interest rate and credit risks, as well as the investing excess lquidity

Market risk exposures are measured wsing sensitivity analysis indicated below,

{i} Foreign currency risk

The Group's business operations are not exposad to significant foreign cumrency risk
as its portfolio of golf courses held by the TK Operator is located in Japan and the
cash flows from the operations of the golf courses are denominated in JPY, the
funchianal currency of the entities,
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

4 Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risk management (contmued)
{b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (continued)
iy Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a8 counterparty will default on its contractual
obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group

Golf fees and restaurant revenue are required to be settled in cash or using
major credit cards, mitigating credt risk. There are no significant concentrations
of credit risk. Trade receivables primarily comprise of receivables due from
credit card companies and receivables due from members for their annual
membership fea

The collection from credit card companies is once every two weeks, and the
Group has assessed that the credit card companies have strong financial
capacity to meet the contractual cash flow obligations and hence does not
expect significant credit loss,

For receivables due from members for their annual membership fee, the
membership departmeant will perform credit reviews on new members before
acceptance and an annual review for existing customers, Credit reviews take
inte account member's refundable deposit, past experences with the customers,
default rate at the respactve golf courses and other relevant factors.

The Group wses a pravison malrx to measure the ifetime expected credit loss
allowance for trade receivables at the respactive golf course level, In measuring the
expacted credit losses, trade recaivables are grouped based on shared cradit risk
characteristics and days past dua.

In ealculating the expected credit loss rates, the Group considers historical loss rates
for each category of customers and adusis to reflect current and forwardlooking
macroecanomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables. The Group has ideniified the gross domestic product (GDP) and the
unemployment rate of the countries in which it sells goods and services to be the
most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rales based on
expacted changes in these factors,

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery, such as a debtor failing 1o engage in a repayment plan with the Group.
The Group considers membership receivables and golf course related and other
receivables as in default if the counterparty fails to make contractual payments
within 30 days when they fall due respectively, and writes off the receivables
when a debtor fails o make contractual paymenis greater than 3 years past due.
Where receivabies are written off, the Group continues to engage in
enforcement activity to atlempt to recover the receivables due. Where
recoveries are made, these are recognised in profit or loss.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

4 Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risk management (contmued)

{b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

The Group's credit risk exposure in relation to frada recaivables under IFRS 9
as at 31 March 2018 are set out in the provision matrix as follows:

{ii)

el iy
Wiinnd0 206l 03 Mo ban

%ggu é‘.";?" n.w oigage  Total

M JPY milkcn  J J ﬂ#‘? JPY makon JPY
milign rrdlion mdlion millan

W1e

Membership receivables

Expecied loss rate g - . BT 431 7%

Trade morvables - - - 41 Bl3 1,224

Less alicwance - - - (8 (34T (378

Gall course related mnd

olher receivables

Expecied loss rate . 3 B = = =

Trade receivables 172 (k| - - - 1843

Liss alowance - {5) - - - 15

The Company's trade receivables are subject 1o immatenal credit loss.

ta)

Trade receivables

The movement in credt [oss allowance are as follows:

Total
Group JPY million
Balanca at 1 Agril 2018 448
Loss allowance recognised in profit or loss during the
year on assets acquired &7
Amounts written off during the year (135)
Balance at 31 March 2019 380

Cash and cash eguivalents and other financial assets are subject to
immaterial credit loss.

Previous accounting policy for impairment of trade recefvables

In 2018, the impairment of financial asssts was assessed basad on the
incured boss impairment model.  Individual receivables which were
known to be uncollectible were written off by reducing the carrying
amcunt directly, The other receivables were assessed collectvely, to
determine whather there was objective evidence thal an impairment had been
incurrad but not yet identified.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

4 Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risk management (contmued)

{b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (continued)
{ii) Credit risk (continued)

a)

Trade recaivables (continued)

Previous accounting policy for impairment of trade receivables
{continuad)

The Group considerad that there was evidence if any of the following
indicators were present:

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

Probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial
recrganisation; and

Default or delinquency in payments (more than 90 days overdua),

The Group's credit risk exposure in relation to trade receivables under
IAS 39 as at 31 March 2018 are set out in the provision matnx as follows:

Age analysis of trade recevables past due but not impaired

Group
2018
JPY millien
Trade receivables past due not Impaired

Less than 3 manths 1,15
Batwaan 1 o 3 months 210
Greater than 3 months 1,232

2,508

The camying amounts of financial assets as shown in the statements of
financial posiion represent the maximum amount of credit risk that the
Group and AGT is exposed to at the date of the financial statements.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is
limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

{iiy  Liguidity risk

Liquidity nisk reflecis the risk that the Group will have insufficient resources to
mest its financizl liabilities =5 they fall dus.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

4 Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risk management (contmued)
{b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (continued)

fii)  Liguidity risk (continued)

The following tables detsil the remaining contractual maturity for non-dervative
financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial [@bilties based on the eariiest date on which the Group
can be required fo pay. The table includes both interest and pnincipal cash flows.

Maon-derivative financial iabilties

On
demand Within 2
o withan to After
lymar Sysars 5 years
JPY JPY JPY
millicn malion million

Group
2013
Floating rate - borrowengs from financal

institutions 178 44 150 .-
Fixed rate - bormavwang from a retated party 15 60 500
Finance lease payablas 1112 3,367 473
Trade and other payables 4,158 - -
Membership deposits 9,541 29 -
Other liabilites 524 337 S
Total 15,529 47943 978
Group
2018
Flesating rate - borrowangs from financal

institutions 29513 14414 -
Fixed rate - borrovang from a related party 15 60 500
Finance lease payablas 1,051 2,683 482
Trade and ather payables 4,164 - -
Membership deposits 10,539 N -
Other kabilibes S22 - 5
Total 45804 17198 387

All non-derivative financial liabilittes of AGT as at 31 March 2019 and 2018 are on
demand or due within one year,
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

4 Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risk management (contnued)

{b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (continued)

i)

Liguidity risk | continued)
Denvative financial liabilities

The table below analyses the derivative financial instruments of the Group for
which contraciual maturities are essential for an understanding of the timing of
cash flows into relevant maturty groupings based on the remaining penod from
the date of statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclesed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

On demand
o within Betweaen 2
1 year to 5§ years
JPY JEY

millson millsom
Group
At 31 March 2019
Met setled: Interest rate swap 10 =
Group
At 31 March 2018
Met settled: Interest rate swap 18 60

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had negative working capital of JPY 8,240
million (2018: JPY 38,318 million). This includes;

{i] JPY 2425 milion (2018: JPY 2 584 million) of uneamed mambership
revenue, which represents collections received from customers and do not
require any future cash outfiow from the Group;

{ii} = curment portion of membership depaosits of JPY 9541 million {2018: JPY
10,521 million). Based an the histarcal trend, the redemption amount by
members is significantly lower than the curment portion of membership
deposits recarded by the Group

The Trustee-Manager has carefully monilored and managed its cash fliow.
Management and operation reports are prepared and reviewed on a monthly
basis. Cash flow forecasts are prepared on a menthly basis to project cash flow
reguiremants of the Group using vanous general and operational assumptions
which takes inta account reasonably possible changes n business parformance,

The directors believes that the Group has adequate working capital for its
present requirements and that its existing loan facilibes, together with cash and cash
equivalants wil provide sufficient funds to sausty s working capital
requirements and anticipated capital expenditures and other payment
obligations for the next twelve months, including its distibution of JPY 1854
million to Unitholders paid out on 21 June 2019,
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

4 Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risk management (contmued)
{b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (continued)
(iv)  |;nterest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from bormowings from financial institutions.
Bomowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk,

For the new financing arrangement in the current financial year (MNote 12), no
interest rate swap have been entered into

For the previous term lpans, the Group manzges its cash flow interest rate risk
by using floating-to-ficed interest rate swaps. Such interest rale swaps have the
economic effect of converfing bomowings from ficating rates fo fixed rates,
Generally, the Group raises long-term barrowings at flosting rates and swaps
them into fixed rates that are lower than those available if the Group borrowed
at fixed rates diractly,

Under the interest rate swaps, the Group agrees with ather parties to exchange, at
specified intervals (mainly sie-monthly), the difference between ficed contract rates
and fioating rate interast amounts calculated by reférence to the agreed notional
principal amounts.

Further details of the interest rate swap confracts are found in Mote 17.

The Group doas not expect any material effect on the Group's prafit or loss and
aquity ansing from the affacts of reasonably possible changes 1o interest rates on
interest bearing financial instruments as the majority of the interast rate of the
Group's floating rate borrowings ané based on the TIBOR rate, which have remainad
fairly stable based on historical trend,

fv}  Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

The carmying amounts of cash and cash eguivalents, trade and other receivables and
payables, shor-term bomowings from financial instdutions and short term
membership deposits approximate their respective fair values due o the
relatively shor-tarm matunty of these financial instruments. For the other class of
financial assets and liabiles, Trustee-Manager considers that the carmying amounts
of financial assets and financial labilities recorded at amortised cost in the financial
infermation approximate their far values,

Some of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporing period. The following table gives
information about how the fair values of derivative financial instruments are
determined {in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used}.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

4 Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risk management (contmued)

{b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (continued)

V)

Ivi)

Eair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Fair vahse &5 at
Financial 31 March 31 Manch Valualion Significant
assets [ 2019 2018 Fairvalue  techniqueds),  unobservable
labilites  JPY million JEY milben  hierarchy  and key inpub{s) impul{s)
Inerest  Liabilithes: Liabilites: Level 2 Fasr value of intenest A
rale Cument - 10 Cument - 18 rale swaps s
swaps (nol designatedMon-current - 60 caleulated as the
for hedging) (dessgnated for present value of the
hedging) estmated  fulure

cash fows  based
on observable yeld
CUrVasS

There were no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy in the curment
reporing period.

Capital risk

The Group's capital risk management objectives are to safeguard the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concermn and to mantain an optimal capital structure so as
o maximise shareholder value. In order 1o achieve its capital risk management
objectives, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment. returmn capital to
Unitholders, issue new units or obtain new borrowings. The Group's owerall strategy
remains unchanged from 2018,

The Trustee-Manager manitors capital based on the debt-to-equity ratio and the
net debt-io-equity ratio, which are calculated as total debt divided by equity and
total debt net of cash and cash equivalents ("Net debt”) divided by equity, Total
debt comprises "Bormowings from financial institutions™, “Finance lease
payables®, “Borrowing from a related party” and “Membership deposits” as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. Equity s the total
equity as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Group
2019 2018
JPY million JPY million
Total debt 57,334 58,034
Cash and cash equivalents (8,515) (8,145)
Met dabt 48,819 49 585
Total equity 64,270 80,155
Debt-to-equity ratic 0.89 0.72
Nt debt-to-equity ratio 0.76 0.62
48
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

4

()

Financial instruments, financial risks and capital risk management (contmued)
Financial risk management policies and objectives (continued)
{vi) Capital risk (continued)

In additicn, the Group also specifically monitors the financial ratios of its debt
covenants stated in the agreements with the financial institutions providing the loan
facilities to the Group. The Group and the Company are in compliance wath all
externally imposed capital requirements for the financial years ended 31 March

2019 and 2018,
Related party transactions
i) The Trustee-Manager

The Trustee-Manager was incorporated in Singapore under the Companies Act,
Chapter 50 of Singapore, on 20 March 2014,

The Trustee-Manager is 48.0% held by the Sponsor and 51,0% hald by tha TM
Partner, & whally-owned subsidiary of Daiwa Securities Group,

The Trustee-Manager has the dual responsibility of safeguarding the interests of
Unithalders and managing the business conducted by AGT. The TrusteeManager
has powers of management over the business and assets of AGT and its main
responsibility 15 o manage AGT's assets and labilities for the benefit of the
Unithalders as a whole.

The Trustee-Manager is entitied to a base fee and a performance fee as
specified under the Trust Deed. The base fee and performance fee are payable to
the Trustee-Manager in the form of cash andfor units (as the TrusteeManager
may elect).

The following significant transaclions occurred between AGT and the
TrusteeManager, which includes the cost of key management personnel, during
the reparting period:

Grou
2019 2018
million million
Trustee-Manager fees 250 254
Expense reimbursement 11 -
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

5 Related party transactions (continued)
i) Accordia Golf Co. Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the “Sponsor group”™)

The fallowing significant transactions cocurred batween the Group and the
Sponsor group during the reporting penod:

Group
2019 2018
JPY I'I'Iliiﬂl‘l JPY mallian
Accordia Golf Co. Ltd. (the "Sponsor™) '
Golf course management faes * 5,788 5823
Staff secondment fees 1.683 1,715
Operating lease expenses (Note 27) 18 38
Payment on behalf of the Group:
- Web sales commission 1.240 1,258
- Publication fees - 65
- Headquarer expanses 772 465
Interest expense on subordinated loan * (Note
22) 15 15
Repayment of finance lease obligations
(inclusive of GST) 204 338
Interest expense on finance leases (Mole 22) 14 26
Collection on behalf of the Group:
= Annual membership fee 61 =T
- Play fee 3 14
Reimbursement of shareholders' coupon
consumed * - 389
Customer loyalty points awarded, net of
awarded * 24 26
Sales commission Income for new membership
Sign up 4 B
Purchases of food and supply through
centralised procurement system at no mark-
up 5,538 5,558
Integrated procurement system usage fee 16 16
Collection of pro-shop business revenue on
behalf by the Group' 2,237 485
Payment of using pro-shop merchandise for
recruitment and corporate activities' 134 23
Commission fee income from Pro-Shop'
Business " BE 17
Compensation for golf course damage - 145
Golf course aparation consulling fea - 78

&0
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

5 Related party transactions {contnued)

i) Accordia Golf Co. Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the “Sponsor group”)
{continued)

Group
2018 2018
“JIPY millien  JPY millicn

Accordia Retail Co, Ltd'
Collection of pro-shop business revenua on

behalf by the Group - 1,832
Payment of using pro-shop merchandise for

recruitment and corporate activities - 102
Comrmission fee income from Pro-Shop

business® - 57
Heartree Co. Ltd.
Descounts received for centralised purchazes 15 62
Reimbused expeanses for operating activities 13 -

Accordia Golf Garden Co. Lid.

Recharge of golf lessan fees 18 22

U Accordia Retail Co., L, was amalgamated into Accordia Goll Co., L1d, and ceased 1o
exisl a5 al 1 Janmary 2018, The figures presented werg for B months from 1 Apnd 2017 1o
31 December 2017 and transactions after amalgamation were included in Accordia Golf
Co, Lid

1 The Group enlered Inta the Gell Course Managemant Agreemant with the Sponsar,
pursuani fo which the Sponsar will provide, mler alia, golf course managament sanices
In respect of the [nitial Portlolio. Pursuant 1o the Goll Course Management Agreament,
the Spofisor i entitied 1o golf course cperating and management fees comprising a base
fee, an incentve fee, a membership revenue incentive lee and an integrated purchasing
sysiem usage fee. Golf course managemend fees are paid in cash by SPC.

1 Tha Sponsor hes provided a subordinated loan to SPC of JPY 500 million at a fixed
interest rale of 3.0% per annum and payable semi-annually for the enlire loan term. The
Ioan is repayable upon discontinuation of the TK business. SPC injected its own cash,
funded using this subordinaled loan, into the TK business.

¢ The Sponsor issued vouchers to ile shareholdans which entitie them 1o play &t SPC's galf
courses al a discountad rate. The valuae of the discount gevan 1o the sharaholdars for
coupons consumad is reimbursed by the Sponsor o the Group and recorded as parf of
e Group's revenue
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

5 Related party transactions {contnued)

fii)

Accordia Golf Co. Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the “Sponsor group™)
{continued)

¢ Members wha play goll in SPC's goll course will be awardsd customer layalty points
equivalent 1o 1% 1o 2% of sales amount, The Group pays the Sponsor the amount

equivaleni ko points awarded. Upon members’ redemplion, the Sponsor pays the Group
the amount eguivalent 1o points redeemed. The payment to the Sponsor for poinls
awarded and the receipt from the Sponscr for poinls redesmed are sellad on a net basis.
During the current financial year, there is a net receipt to the Sponsor due to more
cuslomars loyally poinls awarded than redesmad

i The golf-shop businass (lhe “Pro-Shop Business®) has nol been lransfered lo SPC and
confinued 1o be owned and operated by the Sponsar’s subsidiary, Acocondia Retail Co
Ltd

Accordia Retail Co. Lid, oulsourced some of the operabons of Pro-Shop Business,
including goods and invenlory management, eelling activities and revenwe cash
management ta SPC and SPC eamed commiszion income fee from managing the ProShop
Busingss.

Daiwa Real Estate Asset Management Co. Ltd. and its related companies
{the “TM Partner group”)

The following significant transactons cocumed between the Group and the TM
Partner group duning the reporiing penod:

Group
2019 2018
JPY million  JPY million

Daiwa Real Estate Asset Management Co.
Ltd. (the “TM Partner”)

Asset management fees ’ 36 100

T Pursuant io the Asset Management Agreement, the assef manager 5 entied 1o a basa
Fest dmdd U Tee i3 panid in cish by the Sponsod on behall ol SPC
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the fnancial year ended 21 March 2019

L] Cash and cash equivalents

Group AGT

2019 2018 2013 2018

JPY milllon JPY milkon JPY milllen JEY millan

Cash on hand 1,080 B58 - -
Cash at bank 7,386 7,238 145 116
Cash and cash eqguivalents 8,466 8,096 145 116
Fixed deposits 49 49 - -
Total 8,515 8145 145 116

As at 31 March 2019, fixed deposits of JPY 492 million {2018: JPY 43 million) have not been
classified as "cash and cash equivalents” as the maturity date of these fixed deposits is
mare than three months,

The Growp has pledged all cash balances held as bank deposits by the SPC o secure
bormowings from financial institutions (Note 12). Based on the terms of the borrowings, a
certain amount of cash 1s reserved for the Group's operational use and restricted from being
distributed as to Unitholders. Accordingly, the Trustee-Manager has classified such
pledged cash balances as cash and cash equivalents within the statements of financial
pasition and the cash flow statement

T Trade and other receivables
Group AGT

2019 2018 2019 2018
JPY million  JFY million JPY million JPY million

Trade receivablas - non-

related parties 3,087 3044 - -
Less: Allowance for doubtful
debts [Mote 4(bjii)ia)] {380) {448) - .
Trade receivables - net 2,687 2,206 - -
Distribution receivable from
subsidiary 7 2 2,804 2 948
2,687 2,596 2,804 2,946
53
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

8 Other assets
Group, AGT
2019 2018 2013 2018
JBY milllon JEY milicn JPT million  JEY mallon
Other current assets
Propaid expanses 1,079 1,190 1 1
Other current assels 41 17 38 15
1,120 1,207 3a 16
Group, HGT
2019 2018 _2m8 2018
JPY million JPY million  JPY million  JPY millian
Other non-current assets
Deposits paid 1o landlord 308 309 - -
Long-term prepaid expanses 17 &7 - -
Deposits for golf memberships -] 65 - -
Other non-current assets 2 4 - -
386 445 =
3 Investment in subsidiary
AGT
2019 2018
JPY million JPY million
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 75,447 75,447
Retumn on invesiment (4,338) -
Impaiment loss {3,115) -
Balance at the and of the financial year 61,994 75447

During the financial year, the Company has provided for impairment loss on its
subsidiary amounting to JPY 9115 million (2018; Nil) as the carrying amount of the
subsidiary exceadead its racoverable amaunt,

The recoverable amount of the subsidiary is determined based on fair value less costs to sell
calculation. The key assumptions for the fair value less costs to sell calculation are those
regarding the discount rates, growth rates and profitability margins and costs to sell dunng
the pericd. The Trustee-Manager estimates discount rates using post-tax rates that reflect
current market essessments of the tme value of money and the nisks specific to the SPC.
The growth rates are based on industry growth forecasts. Profitability margins and
costs 1o sall are based on past practices and expectations of fulure changes In the markel.

The Group delermined the fair value using the present value of future cash flows based on
cumrent market expectations with a forecast horizon of 4 years (2018. 3 years) and the
terminal value was derived assuming no long term growth (2018: no long lerm growth).
The post-tax rate used to discount the forecasted cash flows from the SPC was 4. 5% (2018:
4 8%) per annum.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019

9 Investment in subsidiary (continued)

Details of the subsidiary of the Group as at 31 March 2019 are as follows:

Country of

incorporation  Proportion of TK

Name of subsidiany Principal activitias and operation Interast
2019 2018

£ %
Accordia Golf Asset Special purpose entity - Japan 9899 0859
Godo Kaisha (SPC)'”  Investment in golf course
assels

1 Although AGT halds na voting rights in the SPC, it has the ability to usa its power to affect fls

returns from the SPC pursuant to the TK Agreement (soe Mabe 1), and AGT recenes substantialy
all of the SPC's econame: inberest. Accordingly, the Group regards the SPC as a subsidiary.

Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers Asrata LLC for consolidation purpoges only
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 371 March 2019

10 Property, plant and equipment (continuead)

During the year, the Group camied out a review of the recoverable amount of property, plant
and eguipment, having considered the financial performance of the golf courses. The review
led to the recognition of an impairment loss of JPY 4,818 milon (2018: JPY 1,720 million),
which has been included in other operating expenses. The recoverable amount of property,
plant and equipment has been estimated on the basis of their value n wse (2018; value in
use). The pre-tax discount rate used in measuring value in use was between 7.0 to 11.8%
(2018: 7.0 to 11.8%) per annum.

If the pre-tax discount rate uwsed to estimate recoverable amount has
increasedidecreased by 5% (2018 3%), the impairment loss recognised for the cument
financial year will have been JPY 1,684 million higher' JPY 1,822 million lower (2018;

JPY 2,109 million higher' JPY 1,815 million lower),

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has pledged cerain freeheld land, golf couwrses and
buildings with total carmying amounts of approximately JPY 119,450 million (2018: JPY
132,630 milkon), 1o secure the bormowings granted to the Group (Note 12)

The camying amounts of property, plant and equipment hald by the Group under finance
lzase arangements (Nate 13) are JPY 4,130 million (2018: JPY 3712 million) as at 31
March 2018
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 371 March 2019

11 Intangible assets

Group Goodwill Software Others Total
JPY million  JPY million  JPY milken  JPY milkon
Cost
At 1 April 2017 17,078 33 32 17144
Additions - 129 - 129
At 31 March 2018 17.079 162 32 17273
Additions - 8 - g
At 31 March 2019 17,079 170 32 17.281
Accumulated amortisatic
At 1 April 2017 - 12 - 13
Amartisation during the year - 15 - 15
At 31 March 2018 - 28 - 28
Amortisation during the year - AN - 3
At 31 March 2019 - L] - 59

Accumulated impairment

At 1 April 2017 A ; = .
Impairment during the year - - = z
At 31 March 2018 - - -
Impaiment dunng the year 13,144 - - 13,144

At 31 March 2018 13,144 - = 13,144
Carrying amount.

At 31 March 2019 3,935 111 3z 4,078
At 31 March 2018 17,079 134 32 17,245

The value of the goodwill is aliocated to the SPC which is principally engaged in the golf
courses business in Japan (Nate 3(c)),

Impairment test for goodwill

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are
indications that gocdwill might be mpaired.

The recoverable amount of the SPC is datermined based on fair value less costs to sell
calculation, The key assumptions for the fair value less costs to sell calculation are
those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and profitabilty marging and costs to
sall during the period. The Trustee-Manager estimates discount rates using post-tax
rates that reflect currert market assessmants of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the SPC, The growth rates are based on ndustry growth forecasts,
Profitability marging and costs to sell are based on past practices and expectations of
future changes in the market.
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ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 371 March 2019

11 Intangible assets (continuead)
Impairment test for goodwill (continued)

The Group determined the fair value using the present value of future cash flows based on

currenl markel expectations with a forecast horizen of 4 years (2018: 3 years) and the

terminal value was derived assuming no long term growth (2018; no long term growth).

The posi-tax rate used to discount the forecasted cash flows from the SPC was 4,5% (2018;
4 .8%) per annum.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2019, the Trusiee-Manager updated the Group's
business plan to take into consideration market developments in Japan and the
reduction in expected operating cash flows from Northern Country Club Nishikigahara
Golf Course following the Japanese govermnment's infrastructure project to be
undertaken at Morthemm Country Club Nighikigahara Golf Course and 12 surroundings.
As a result, the assumption regarding profitability margins and costs 1o sell have been
reduced by 10 - 34%, as compared to prior vear. Based on the assessment, a non-
cash goodwill impairmert loss of JPY 13,144 million was recodnised against the
goadwill alincated to the SPC which is principally engaged in the golf courses business

in Japan

For illustrative purposes, a 0.1% decrease in post-tax discount rate and a 0.5%
decraase in profitability margins less cost to sell in the fair value less costs to sell
calculations, with all other vanables and assumptions held constant, would decrease the
recoverable amount of the SPC CGU, by JPY 2584 million and JPY SBE million
respectively.  Actual results in the future may differ materally from the sensifivity
analysis due to developmeants in the Japanese market and changes in ecanomic
conditions which may cause fluctuation in growth and market! interest rates to vary and
therefore it is impartant to note that the amounts so generated do not reprasent a
projection of likely future events and profits or losses,

12 Borrowings from financial institutions

Group
2019 __2018
JPY million  JPY million
Currant partion : 28 100
Less: Unamortised loan facility fee 2 {253)
- 28 847
Nan-current portion 43,425 14,325
Less: Unamortised loan facility fee (904) {217)
42,521 14,108
Tatal 42,521 42 855
]
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 371 March 2019

12 Borrowings from financial institutions (continued)

The bank bormowings are denominated in JPY and are summarised as follows:

Group

2019 2018
Outstanding principal amaunt: JPY million  JPY miliian
Term Loan A - 14,475
Term Loan B - 14,475
Term Loan C - 14 475
Tranche A 43,425 -

43,425 43,425

For Term Loan A, interest was levied at a floating interest rate of B-month JPY TIBOR
plus 125 basis points per annum. For Term Loan B, interest was levied at a floating
interast rate of B-month JPY TIBOR plus 150 basis points per annum, For Term Loan
C, interest was levied at a fioating interest rate of 8-month JPY TIBOR plus 175 basis
pointe per annum. On 1 August 2018, the 3 term loans ware repaid in full

On 24 July 2018, SPC enlered inte a new financing arrangement with 2 Japanese lenders
for secured debt faciiies denominated in JPY of up to JPY 44 925 milion. The new
financing arrangement comprise of (a) a five-year franche of up lo JPY 43 425 milion as a
term facility loan (the “Tranche & Facility"); and (b) a five-year tranche of up to JPY 1,500
milion as a term loan commitment (the “Tranche B Facility™) which can be drawn down for
general mvestment purposes only.

On 1 August 2018, Tranche A Facility was drawn down in full and used to repay the 3 term
loans above,

For Tranche A Facility, interest is levied at a floating interest rate of six-month JPY
Tokyo Interbank Offered Rate ("TIBOR") plus 195 basis points per annum, The full
amount of principal is payable at maturity in August 2023,

For Tranche B Facility, interest is levied at a floating interest rate of six-month JPY
TIBOR plus 150 basis paints per annum. No amount has bean drawn down as at 31
March 2019,

The Group's average effective interest rate is 3.10% (2018: 3.12%) per annum,
The obligations of SPC for the new financing arrangement are secured by various

security interests (including a pledge over the T Interests, cash and cash aquivalents, land,
golf courses, buildings and structures held by the Group),
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13 Finance lease payables

Present Present
value of value of
Minimum Minimum  minimum  minimum
leasae lease lease lease
payments paymenis payments payments
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
Group 2019 2018 _2019 2018
JPY million JPY milion JPY million JFY million

hla u
legses:
Not later than one year 1,112 1,081 1,103 9583
Between one and five years 3367 2693 3,236 2572
Later than five years 473 481 404 472
4,852 4,225 4,743 4,027
Less: Future finance charges (2089} (198) - -
Present value of finance lease
liabilites 4,743 4,027 4,743 4,027
Less: Amount due for setilemeant
within 12 months (shown
under current liabilities) {1,103) {983)
Amount due for settlement after 12
menths 3,640 3,044

The Group leases certain of its property, plant and equipment (Note 10) under finance leasas
from the Sponsor and other third parties. As at 31 March 2019, the finance lease payables to
the Sponsor and to the thind parties are JFY 420 million (2018: JPY 847 million) and JPY
4 253 million (2018 JPY 2,180 million) respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2013, the average lease term is 6.9 years (2018: 7.0 years).
The Group has opbons to purchase the leased assets at a walue stipulated under the
agreement upon expiry of the lease terms. The Group's obligations under finance leases are
secured by the lessors’ fitle to the leased assets (Note 10).

Interest rates underlying all obligations under finance leases are fixed at respective
contract dates at an average of 1.96% (2018: 2.49%) per annum for the year ended 31
March 2019

&1
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14 Trade and other payables

Groug AGT
2019 2018 2018 2018
JPY million JPY million JBY million JPY millon
Trade payables 1,196 1,117 4 £
Trade payable to subsidary - - az 3
Property and other tax payables 1,237 1,277 - -
Other payables to the Sponsor group
{Mota 5 (ii)) 1,071 1,201 5 i
Accrued expenses &80 76 20 21
Managament fee payable to the
Trustee-Manager (MNote 5 (1)) 96 96 96 96
Other payables 1,716 1,674 - -
Total frade and other payables 5,396 5,441 148 148
15 Membership deposits
Group
2019 2018
JPY millien JPY milkon
Total membership deposits 9,570 10,352
Less: Curent perion _(8.541) (10,521)
Non-current partion 23 31

bMembership deposits periain (o deposits received from members, which are refundable after
the lock-up period wpon members' resignation and redemption of their
memberships. The average lock-up period is 10 to 15 years. Upon the expiry of the lock-up
period, such membership deposits have been re-classified from “non-curment liabilities” to
“current liabilities”

The fair value of the membership deposits received is amortised using the effective
interest rate mathad aver fhe lock-up period

G2
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16 Other liabilities

Group
2019 ~ 2018
JPY million _ JEY million

Other current liabilities

Uneamed membership revenue (MNote 20) 2,425 2584
Provision for unufilised employae leave 622 629
Advanced receipt of insurance compensation - 1
Payable to the Sponsor group (Mote 5 (i) 164 164
Provision for bonus 323 319
Other tax payables 23 326
Net Goods and Services Tax (GST) payable 186 63
Crther current liabiliies 282 49
4,213 4,135

Other non-current liabilities
Payabie to Qualified Institutional Investor ! 5 5
Other non-current liabiities 416 75
421 g0

t  Mizuho Securities Co,, Lid,, a Gualified Insitutional investor (the "0I°) under the Financial
Instruments and Exchange Act (the "FIEA”), made a conlribubion o the TK business in order fo
salisfy certain regulatory requirements under the FIEA This contibution is interest-free and is
repayible upon discontmsation of the T business.

17 Derivative financial instruments

Group
2019 2016
JPY millien  JPY million

Interast rate swap designated and effective as hedging

instruments carmied at fair value 10 78
Analysed as:
Current abiltes 10 18
MNen-curent kabilities - B0
10 T8
Interest rate swaps

For the new financng arangement (Mote 12), no interest rate swaps have been entered
inio,

For the pravious terms loans, the Group uses interest rate swaps to manage its
exposure to interest rate movements on its borrowings from financial institutions by
swapping a proportion of those barrewings from floating rates to fixed rates. All interest rate
swap contracts exchanging floating rate interast amaounts for fixed rate interest amaunts
are designated as cash flow hedges in order to reduce the Group's cash flow exposure
resulting from variable interest rates on borrowings.

63
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17

18

Derivative financial instruments (continued)
Interest rate swaps (continued)

The interest rate swaps and the interest payments on the loan occur simultanecusly and
the amount deferred in equity is recognised in profit or joss over the period that the floating
rate interest payments on debt impact profit or loss.

The fair value of interest rete swaps with notional value of JPY 8475 million (2018: JPY
24,125 million) as at 31 March 2019 is estimated at JFY 10 million (20153 JPY 78 million),
which resulted in a derivative financial instrument liability being recognised for the Group.
These amounts are based on using valuation technigues as at year end. With the
repayment of the previous term loans (Nole 12), the aforementioned interest rate swaps no

longer qualify for hedge accounting.

Therefore, the unrealised gain on change in fair value of cash flow hedging fnancial
instruments amounting to JPY T8 million for the vear ended 31 March 2019 has been
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

Unitholders' funds
Group and AGT. Group. AGT
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
MNumberof  Mumber of JPY JPY JPY JPY
units units million milkon  million milkon
Balance at the
beginning and end of
the year 1,099,122.000 1,000 122 000 81 81,086 81 81,486

As at 31 March 2015, an amount of equity issue expenses of JPY 400 million was
incurred and expensed off by SPC, but was debited against Unitholders' funds at the
Group level.
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18 Unitholders' funds (continued)

Each Unit in AGT represents an undivided interest in AGT. The rights and interests of
Unithaolders are contained in the Trust Deed and relevant laws, and include the righis
to:

(il Receive income and cther distributions attributable to the units held;

(i) Participate in the termination of AGT by receiving a share of all net cash proceeds
derved from the realisation of the assets of AGT less any Eabilities, in accordance
with their proportionate interests in AGT. However, a Unitholder does not have the
right o require any assets (or part thereof) of AGT be retumed o him,

(i) Attend all Unithelders’ meeting. The Trustee-Manager may at any time convene a
meeting of Unitholders in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed;

{iv) Vole at Unitholders’ meetings. Every Unitholder has one vote for each unit of which
he is the Unitholder.

The restrictions of a Unitholder include the following:

{i] A Unitholders right is limited to the right to require due administration of AGT in
aceordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed; and

(i} A Unitholder has no right to request to redeem his units while his units are fisted
on SGX-5T

A Unitholder's liability is limited to the amount paid or payable for any unit in AGT, The
provisions for the Trust Deed provide thalt no Unitholders will be personally lable to
indemnify the Trustee-Manager ar any creditor of AGT in the event that the liabikties of AGT
excesd its assels

19 Non-controlling interest
Non-contrallng interest represents the interests in the operating results and net assets of

the SPC atinbutable to the shareholders of the TK Operator, in accardance with the TK
Agreement

B85
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20

Revenue
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers.

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and services over time and at a point
in time in the following major categories.

At 3 point
in time: Over ime Total
JPY millicn JEY million JBY millicn
2019
Golf course revanue 34251 - 3425
Restaurant revenue 12,762 - 12,762
Membership revenue 479 3,242 3,721
Tatal 47 492 3,242 0,734
2018
Golf course revenue 34,234 - 34,234
Restaurant revenues 12,499 - 12,499
Membarship revenue 525 3.602 4 127
Tatal 47258 3,602 50,860
Contract kabilibes
2013 2018
JPY million  JPY million
Contract liabilities
- Unearned membership revenue {Note 16) 2425 2584

Annual membership fees billed in advance of the rendering of services would result in a
contract kability. A contract lability is recognised until the end of the annual
membership penod pad for.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract iabililies

2019 2018
JPY million  JPY millicn

Revenue recognised in current pericd thet was included
in the contract labiity balance at the beginmning of

the period 2.584 2769
Unsatisfied performance obligahons

As permitted under the transitional provisions in IFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
partially or fully unsatshed performancs obbgations as of 31 March 2018 and 1 Aprl 2018 is
not disclosed.

As permitted wunder IFRS 15, the aggregated transaction price alipcated to unsatished
contracts of period one year or less, or are billed based on time incurred, s not disclosed.
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21 Selling, general and administrative expense

Tax and levies '
Commission fees
Advertising expense
Others

Croup
2019 2018
JPY million  JPY milion
1,357 1,380
2,358 2.3
B4 775
701 766

5220 5242

e e ey

1 Tax and levies of JPY 1,357 milon (2018 JPY 1,380 million} includes property tax of JPY 1,216

milfion (2018 JPY 1,260 milkon).

22 Interest expense and other finance costs

Interast axpense - financial institutions
Interast expense - related party (Note 5 (i)
Interest axpense - finance leass

- Related party (Nate 5 (i)

- Third parties
Amartisation of capitalised loan facility fee
Amartisation of membership deposits
Other finance costs

23 Income tax (benefit/expense

Group

2019 2018
JPY million  JPY million
881 817
15 15
14 26
72 60
513 680
5 18
66 7
1,566 1,603

The Group's operating subsidiary operates in Japan and s subject to income tax in

Japan

Income from the TK Business will be subject to withholding tax in Japan which is levied
on the amount of TK distribution paid from the SPC to AGT. The appkcable withhalding
tax rote is 20.42% (2018; 20.42%). Such withholding tax is assumed o constitute a
foreign tax credit of AGT in Singapore, resulfing in no income tax expense at AGT since
the income fax rate fo be appbed to AGT in Singapore is lower then the withhalding tax

rate in Japan,

The amount of TK distribution is assumed to be deductible from the taxable income of the
SPC, Therefore, only the residual taxable income of the SPC is subject to income tax in
Japan. The corporate income tax rate for the financial vear ended 31 March 2019 is 34.60%

(2018: 24,60%).

199/355
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23 Income tax (benefitVexpense (continued)

(a) Income tax (benefitfexpense

Group
2018 2018
JPY million  JPY millian

Foreign withhalding tax 951 977
Defarred tax {Note 23(z)) (1,242 (641}
Tetal income tax (benefit)expanse EEH 136

(b} Recenciliation of income tax provision and the income tax computed at
the tax rate prevailing

Group
2019 2018
JPY million  JPY million
(Loss)iprofit before ncome tax (12,784) 4 468
Tax calculated at Singapore tax rate of 17%

(2018 17%) [2,173) TG0
Foresgn tax credif claimed {46B) {1,005)
Effect of (non-taxable income) non-deductible

expense in determining taxable profit 1,245 1281}
Effect of different tax rate of subsidiary

operating in other jurisdiction 152 (105)
Foreign withholding tax 951 977
Total income tax (benefityexpense 1291) 336

88
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23 Income tax {benefit)/expense (continued)
ic) Deferred tax

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax liabilities as at
31 March 2012 are as follows:

Group
Golf course
assels Cthers Total

JPY million JPY milicn JPY million
Deferred tax assels
As at 31 March 2017 - - -
Recognesead in profit or loss (Mote 23(a)) 58 - 59
As at 31 March 2018 59 - 8a
Recagnised in profit or loss (Note 23(a)) (58 - (59)

As at 31 March 2019

Deferred tax liabilities

As at 31 March 2017 27 820 448 28,068
Recognizad in profit or loss (Mote 23(a)) (328) {254} (582)
As at 31 March 2018 27 282 194 27 486
Recognised in prafit or loss (Mote 23(a)) {1,201} - {1,301
As at 31 March 2019 25991 194 26185

As at acquisition date, the Group recognised a deferred tax liability in relation to
the taxable temporary difference, between the carrying amount and the tax
basis of goff course assets arising from the acguisiion of TK Interest. Such
defermed tax [ability is measured based on an undiscounted basis at the enacted
tax rate of 34.80% applicable to the SPC. SPC will be subject fo additional
income tax in Japan in the event that SPC retains future income to fund future
tax payment
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24 {Loss)profit for the year
{LossyVprofit for the year has been armived at after charging/{crediting.

5

Group
2019 2018
JPY million  JPY millian

Depreciation and amortisation expense

Depreciaton of property, plant and equipment 3,252 3,148
Amartisation of infangible assals 3 15
Amortisation of other finance costs 7 7
Total depreciaton and amorbsation expensa 3,290 3,168
Audit fees 40 42
Hon audit fees 14 14
Interast income - {1)
Allowance for doubtul trade receivables 67 104
Gain on forfeiture of membership deposits {15} (26)
Impairment of goodwill 13,144 -
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 4,818 1,720
Loss on disposal of properdy, plant and equipment 19 25

25 {Loss)earnings per unit

The calculation of lossieamings per unit is based on loss atiributable to Unitholders of JPY
12,553 million (2018; profit atinbutable to Umnthalders of JPY 4,095 million) for the year and
1,098,122 000 units (2018; 1,098,122,000 units) in issue,

26 Segment infermation

The Group is pnncipally engaged in the business of owning, operating and maintaining golf
courses and golf course related assets in Japan and therefora Trustee-Manager considers
that the Group operates as one single business and geographical segment. Mo single
customers confrbuted 10% or more to the Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2019
and 2018,

0
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27 Operating lease expense
The Group as lessee

Minimum lease paymenis under operating leases recognised as an expense were as
follows:

Payment recognised as an expense

Group
2019 2018
JPY million  JFY million
Minimum lease paymants fo:
- Sponsor (Mote 5 (i) 19 38
- Third partes 1,907 1,957

1,926 1,995

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments.

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for its land and
certain equipment.

Leases for its land are nitally negotiated for a term of 20 years and subsequently, the
lease terms are renewed based on the same conditions of the original lease agreements
as long as the Group continues to renew the leases. There are no terms or conditions
in the lease agreements in relation to the termination of the lease agreements during
the lease terms. The Trustee-Manager considers the land lease confracts to be
cancellable as the Group as lessee has the option and the ability to terminate these
contracts during the lease term with no notice period required and without significant
compansation to be made to the lessors. Accordingly, the operating lease commitment
relating 1o lease of land is not disclesed in the financial statements.

The lease for certain equipment is negotated for one year and renewed on an annual
basis. The rental has been prepaid in full for the lease term with no operating lease
commitmeant outstanding as at 31 March 2015 and 2018,

71
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28 Distributions

Lroup and AGT
2018 2018
JPY million  JPY mullion

Distribution of 2 20 Singapore cents per unit (2018:
3,58 cants) for the period from 1 Octaber 2017 to 31
March 2018 (2018: 1 October 2016 to 31 March 2017) 1,995 3,184

Distributicn of 1.64 Singapore cents per unit (2018:

1.65 cants) for the period fram 1 April 2018 to 30

September 2018 (2018 1 April 2017 to 30 September

2017) 1,475 1,512
Distribution pasd 3,470 4, B96

In respect of the current period from 1 Oclober 2018 to 31 March 2019, a distnbution of
2.13 Singapeore cents per unit or G0 23.4 million {equivalent to JPY 1,554 million) was paid
out to Unitholders on 21 June 2019,

These financial statements do not reflect the distribution for the half year penod from 1
Ociober 2018 to 31 March 2019, which will be accounted for in total equity as an
appropriation of relained earnings in the year ending 31 March 2020,

29 Events occurring after balance sheet date

Qn 15 April 2019, the Group entered inte @ sale and purchase agreement with a third party
(the “Purchaser’) far the divestment of Village Higashi Karuizawa Golf Club. The
consideration of the divestment is JPY 200 milion, The consideration was amved after
negotiation with tha Purchaser on a willing-buyer and willing-seller basis,

30 Mew or revised accounting standards and interpretations

Below are the mandatory standards, amendments and interpretations fo existing
standards that have been published, and are relevant for the Group's accounting
pericds beginning on or after 1 April 2019 and which the Group has not early adopted;

{a) IFRS 16 Leases (efiective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 Apnil 2013)

IFRS 16 will result in almost all leases being recognised on the balance sheet, as the
distinction between operating and finance leases is removed. Under the new
standard, an asset (the nght to use the leased item) and 2 financial liability to pay
rentals are recognised. The only exceptions are short-term and low-value leases. The
accounting for lessors will not change significanty.

7z
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30 New or revised accounting standards and interpretations (continued)

(a) IFRS 16 Leases (effective for annual periods beginning on or afler 1 April 2018)
{continued)

The Group will apply the standard from its mandatory adoption date of 1 April
2019, The Group intends to apply the simplified transition approach and will not
restale comparative amounts for the year pnor to first adoption. Right-of-use
assets for property leases will be measured on transition &5 if the new rules had
always been applied. All other right-of-use assets will be measured at the
amount of the lease liability on adoption (adjusted for any prepaid or accrued
lease expenses),

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has operating lease commitments on propery, plant
and eguipment.

The Group expects the standard to have a significant impact on the financial
statements and is currently assessing the extent to which the commitments as
at the reporting date will result in the recognition of an asset and a liability for
future payments and the impact on the Group's profit and classification of cash
flowws.

The Group's activities as a lessor are not material and the Group doas not
expact any significant impact on the financial statements, However, some
additional disclosures will ba required from naxt yaar

{b) IFRIC 23 Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatmants (effectve for annual penods
beginning on or after 1 Apnl 2019)

The interpretaton explains how to recognise and measure deferred and current
income tax assets and liabilities where thera is uncemainty over a tax treatmeant. In
partcular, it discusses:

] how to deterrine the appropnate unit of account, and that each
uncertain tax treatment should be considered separately or together as a
group, depending on which approach better predicts the resolution of the
unceriainty,

{i) that the antity should assume a tax authadty will examing, the uncertain
tax treatments and have full knowledge of all related information, 1.e. that
detection nsk should be gnored;

{mity that the entity should reflect the effect of the uncertainty in 115 ncome
tax accounting when it is not probable that the tax suthorities will accept the
treatrmant,
(v} that the impact of the uncarainty should be measured using either the
most lkely amount or the expected value method, depending on which
method batter predicts the resclution of the uncerainty, and

73
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30 New or revised accounting standards and interpretations {continued)

(b} IFRIC 23 Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments (effective for annual penods
beginning on or after 1 April 2019) (continued)

v} that the judgements and estimates made must be reassessed whenever
circumstances have changed or there is new information that affects the

judgemems.
The Group does not expect additional tax hability to be recognised arising from the
uncertain tax positions on the adoption of the interpretation on 1 Agril 2019,
N Authorisation of financial statements

These financial statements were authonsed for issue in accordance with a resclution of
the Board of Directors of the Trustee-Manager of Accordia Golf Trust on 26 June 2018,
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2019 31
794,594,905 64,982
8,815,884 721
785,779,021 64,261
1,099,122,000
0.71 58
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@
2018 1 2019 31
2019 31
2019 31 2018 31
46,054 61,872
3,464 -
49,518 61,872
- 36,439
1,260,588 1,321,229
88,378 107,179
4,119,348 3,945,337
5,468,314 5,410,184
5,517,832 5,472,056
625,000 625,000
4,660,896 4,514,094
- (31,587)
5,285,896 5,107,507
- 4,236
- 4,236
10 209,762 326,452
22,174 33,861
231,936 360,313
231,936 364,549
5,517,832 5,472,056
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@
2018 2019 31
2018 1 2019 31
2018 2017
2019 31 2018 31
11 2,895,919 3,011,325
345 464
(2,056,972) (1,942,369)
(241,763) (179,752)
(20,324) (23,191)
(140,535) (152,940)
(96,398) (109, 455)
(194,644) (253,541)
145,628 350,541
12 15,688 37,378
13 161,316 387,919
14 (14,514) (25,725)
146,802 362,194
31,587 (20,343)
31,587 (20,343)
178,389 341,851
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2018 2019 31

2018 2019 31
2017 625,000 4,151,900 (11,244) 4,765,656
- 362,194 - 361,194
- - (20,343) (20,343)
- - (20,343) (20,343)
- 362,194 (20,343) 341,851
2018 31 625,000 4,151,900 (31,587) 5,107,507
2018 625,000 4,151,900 (31,587) 5,107,507
- 146,802 - 146,802
- - 31,587 31,587
- - 31,587 31,587
- 146,802 31,587 178,389
2019 31 625,000 4,660,896 - 5,285,896
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2018 2019 31
2018 2019 31
2018 2017
2019 31 2018 31
161,316 387,919
15,818 20,895
- 14,532
(63,893) (34,242)
113,241 389,104
- 86,800 25,379
- 18,801 (25,844)
- (116,690) 63,840
- 68,026 (2,412)
170,178 450,067
(33,901) (15,909)
136,277 434,158
37,734 45,237
- (55,312)
(500,000) -
(462,266) (10,075)
(325,989) 424,083
3,445,337 3,021,254
3,119,348 3,445,337
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2018 2019 31
2019 26
80

#22-03A 068898 80 Robinson Road, 22-03A, Singapore 068898

2.1
FRS
FRS 115 FRS 109
FRS

2.2

2.3
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2.4

FRS
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3.10

3.11

3.12

FRS 37

230/355



EDINETOOOO
Oo0ooooooooobo0oDo0obDo0ooDo0oooo0o0bDo0g0oOoo(Ese783)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

3.13

2018

FRS 116 2019

FRS 116

FRS116

12

FRS116 FRS17 FRS 104
FRS115
FRS127
FRS116 2019 FRS15

2019

FRS116 2019

2019
FRS17 FRS104 FRS116

2019
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2017 34,828 8,916 56,497 100,241
- - 55,312 55,312
- - (56,497) (56,497)
2018 31 34,828 8,916 55,312 99,056
2019 31 34,828 8,916 55,312 99,056
2017 23,236 4,353 30,665 58,254
7,132 2,463 11,300 20,895
- - (41,965) (41,965)
2018 31 30,638 6,816 - 37,184
2,655 2,100 11,063 15,818
2019 31 33,023 8,916 11,063 53,002
2017 11,592 4,563 25,832 41,987
2018 31 4,460 2,100 55,312 61,872
2019 31 1,805 - 44,249 46,054
2019 31 2018 31
- 36,439
2019 31 2018 31
AGT

632,805 630,076

12,936 70,481

AGT 516,472 521,317

63,582 91,349

32,365 6,206

2,428 1,800

1,260,588 1,321,229

AGT
17
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2019 31 2018 31
508,521 1,364,752
3,610,827 2,580,585
4,119,348 3,945,337
(1,000,000) (500,000)
3,119,348 3,445,337
12 1.18 1.95 2018
1,000,000 2018
2019 31 2018 31
625,000 625,000
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2017 2018 31 2019 31
( 19 ( 19
7,139 (2,715) 4,424 536 4,960
(918) 730 (188) (8.236) (8.424)
6,221 (1,985) 4,236 (7,700) (3,464)
10
2019 31 2018 31
19,190 97,714
- 46,894
27,385 -
127,711 153,488
35,476 28,356
209,762 326,452
17

235/355



EDINETOOOO

Oo0ooooooooobo0oDo0obDo0ooDo0oooo0o0bDo0g0oOoo(Ese783)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2018 2017
2019 31 2018 31
2,895,919 3,011,325

12

13

2018 2017
2019 31 2018 31
63,893 34,242
(48,205) 3,136
15,688 37,378
2018 2017
2019 31 2018 31
1,885,390 1,810,216
48,582 48,077
122,999 84,076
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14
2018 2017
2019 31 2018 31
22,174 33,201
40 (5,491)
22,214 27,710
(7,700) (1,985)
14,514 25,725
161,316 387,919
17% 27,424 65,946
(2017 217%)
4,494 3,620
40 (5,491)
(20, 445) (29,692)
- (8,300)
3,001 (358)
14,514 25,725
15
2019 31 2018 31
291,498 197,848
77,900 204,288
369,398 402,136
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16
2018 2017
2019 31 2018 31
879,399 868,044
2018 2017
2019 31 2018 31
AGT
(2,895,919) (3,011,325)
132,140 9,505
158,877 208,940
3,015 -
- 148,722

17
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2019 31 4,119,348 2018 3,945,337

12
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2019 31
209,762 (209,762) (209,762) -

2018 31
326,452 (326,452) (326,452) -

36,439
C )

- (1,231,276) (1,231,276) -
- 1,267,715 1,267,715 -
36,439 36,439 36,439 -
362,891 (290,013) (290,013) .
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2019 31 2018 31
97,735 139,700
(32,588) (48,313)
65,147 91,387
10 10
(6,515) 6,515
10 10
(9,139) 9,139
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2019 31
1,260,588 - 1,260,588
4,119,348 - 4,119,348
5,379,936 - 5,379,936
10 - (174,286) (174,286)
2018 31
1,321,229 - - 1,321,229
3,945,337 - - 3,945,337
5,266,566 - - 5,266,566
- - 36,439 36,439
10 - (298,056) - (298,056)
*
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 March 2019

MNole 2019 2018
5 5

Assets
Plant and cquipment 4 46,054 1,472
Deferred tax asscis 9 3464 -
Mon-current assels 49,518 61,872
Financial derivatives 5 - 36,439
Trade and other receivables i |, 264) 588 1,321,229
Prepayments 88,378 107,179
Cash and cash equivalenis 7 4,119,345 3,945,337
Current asscts S468 314 5410184
Total asset 5.517.832 5472056
Equity
Share capital & 625 000 G285 (K
Accumulated profiis 4 6640 896 4,514 004
Hedging reserve H - (31,587)
Total equity 5,2K5 K06 5,107,507
Liabilitics
Deferred tax liahilities 9 - 4,236
Mon-current liability - 4.236
Trade and other payables 1] 20,762 326,452
Currem 1ax liabilitics 22,174 33.861
Current liahilitics 231,936 I 313
Total liabilities 231,936 364,549
Total equity amd liabilities 5,517,832 5472 056

The accompanyving tedes foon an isegral pant ol Osese Gnancial stuemenls,

Fs1
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 March 2019

Note 2019 2018
5 s

Revenue i1 2RO 919 3011,325
{ther income 345 464
Staff costs (2056972) (1942 360)
Professional fees (241.763) (172.752)
Investor relation expenses (20 324) (23.191)
Oiperating lease cxpenscs [ 140.535) (1525400
Travelling cxpenscs (540, 3905 (1R, 455)
Oher expenscs (194 64 (253.541)
Results from operating activities 145,628 350,541
Finance income 12 15,688 37.374
Profit before tax 13 161 316 BT 9
Tax expense 14 (14.514) (25,725)
Praofit for the vear 146 802 362194
Other comprehensive income! (loss) that may be

reclassified subseguently ta profit or loss
Chamges in fair value of financial hedypes 31,587 (200,343}
Other comprehensive income! (loss) for the year, net

of tax 31,587 {20,343)
Total comprehensive income for the vear 178,389 341,851

The accompanying naies form an micgral part of these financeal stiemenis.

Fs2
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Year ended 31 March 2019
Share Aceumplated  Hedging Total
capital profits reserve equily
s 5 5 5

At 1 Apnl 2007 625 (M) 4,151,900 (11,244 4765656
Tutal comprehensive income

Tor the vear
Profit for the vear - a62, 1% - 362,194
Other comprehensive income
Effoctive portion of changes in

fair valoe of financial hedges - - (201.343) {201,343)
Total other comprehensive

income = = {20,343) {20,343)
Total comprehensive income

for the year - a6l |94 (201,343) 341,851
At 31 March 2008 £25 00K 4,514,094 {31,587y  5,1073507
At 1 April 2018 G25.000 4,504,094 (31.587) 5,107,507
Total comprehensive income

for the year
Profit for the year - |46 802 - 146, 202
Other comprehensive income
Effective portion of changes in

fair value of financial hedges - - 31,587 31,587
Total other comprehensive

income - - 31,587 31,547
Tulal comprehensive income

for the year - 46,802 31387 178385
At 3] March 2019 625 (M ERR - 5285 dun

The accompanying nodes Torm an mitegral pari of these financial stmements.

F53
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 March 2019

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of plant and cquipment
Plant and cquipment written-off
Interest income

Changes in:
= trade and other receivables

- prepayments
— trade and other payables

— financial derivatives

Cash generated from operations

Tax paid

Met cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received

Purchase of plant and equipment

Fixed deposit pledged with a fnancial institution
Wet cash used in investing activities

Met (decrease)incrense in cash and cash equivalenis
Cash and cash equivalent at | Apnl
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March

The accompanying naies form an micgral part of these financeal stiemenis.

Fs4
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2019 2018
5 5
161,316 IHT.010
15,818 20,895
: 14,532
(653.593) {34,242)
113,241 AE9 104
86,800 25379
18,801 (23 844)
(116,690 63,840
65,026 (2.412)
170,178 450,067
(33.901) {15 904)
136,277 434,158
37,734 45,237
- {55312)
[ SO0.0000) -
(462_266) {10.075)
(325080 424,083
3,445,337 3.021.254
3,119,348 3,445,337
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2019

These notes form an intcgral part of the financial statements,

The financial statements were authonised for issue by the Board of Dircctors on 26 June 2019,

i DOMICILE AND ACTIVITIES

Accordia Golf Trust Management Pie. Lid. (the “Company™) 12 a company incorporated in
Singapore,  The address of the Company’s registered ofTice is at 80 Robinson Road, £22-05A,
Singapore (GEKIE.

The principal achivity of the Company is that of 2 trustee-manager for Accordia Golf Trust (business
trust).

The Company is a joint venture between Accordia Golf Co., Lid. and Daiwa Real Estate Assct
Management Co, Ltd,. Both companics are mcorporated in Japan.,

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been preparced in accordonee with the Smgapore Financial Reporting
Standards (FRS),

This 1s the first set of the Company’s annual financial statemenis in which FRS 115 Revenwe from
Contracis with Custonners, Clanfications 1w FRS 115 Revenwe from Contracis with Customiers

(Amendments to FRS 115) and FRS 109 Fanarefal fnssrmenis have been applicd

The adoption of these FRS:, amendments o standards and imterpretations did not have a matenial
effect on the Company's financial statements,

2.2 Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except as otherwise
deseribed in the accounting policies sei oul below.

23 Functional and presentation currency

These financial stiatements are presented in is Singapore dollars, which is the Company s functional
currenicy. All financial information presented in Singapore dollars, unless otherwise staned.

.4 Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of the fimancial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management (o make
judgements, cstimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the
reporicd amownts of assets, habilites, income and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these
cslimates.,
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions (o acoouniing

estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods
afffected.

FS35
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

There are no significant areas of critical judpements in the application of accounting policics that
have sipnificant effect on the amount recopnised i the financial statcments or assumptions and
estimation uncertainties that have a sigmificant nsk of resulting i a matenal adjstment within the
next financial vear.

Measurenrent af fair vilnes

A number of the Company’s accounting policics and disclosures require the measurement of fair
valucs, for both financial and non-financial assets and liahilities.

When measunng the fair value of an asset or liability, the Company uses market observable data
as far as possible, Fair values are categorised ino different levels ina fair value higrarch based on
the inputs used in the valuations techniques as follows:

¢ Level I Cuoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities,

& Level 2 Imputs ather than quoted prices included in Level | that are observable for the asset
or liability, either dircetly (i.c., as prices) or indireetly (i.c.. denved from prices):
and

 Level 3 Imputs for the assct or linbility that are not based on obscrvable and market data
{unobservable market data),

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or liahility fall into different levels of the fair
value hicenrchy, then the faie value measurement is categorized in its eatirety in the same level of
the fair valuc hicrarchy as the lowest level inpaut that 15 significant (o the entire measurement (with
Level 3 being the lowest).

The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hicrarchy as of the end of the
reporting period durning which the change has oceurred.

Further mfarmation about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included mnote 17 -
Valuation of financial instrumenis

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policics set out below have been applicd consistently to all periods presenied in
these financial statemenis.

Fureign currency

Transactions in forcign currencies are translated to the fusctionsl currency of the Company at
exchange rates at the rates of the ransactions. Monetary asscts and liabilitics denominated in
foreign currencies ai the reporiing daie are translated io the funciional currency at the exchange rale
at that date. The forcign currency gain o loss on monctary items is the differcnce berween
amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for cffective interest
and payments during the yeur, and the amonised cost in foreign currency iranslated at the exchange
rate at the end of the year,

Nom=monetary asseis and labihnes denominated v foreen currencics that are measured at fair
value are translated 1o the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value
was determined. Mon-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured in terms of histoncal
cost are translated uwsing the cxchange rate at the datc of the transaction. Forcign curreney
differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss.

248/355



3.2

i

(i)

EDINETOOOO

Oo0ooooooooobo0oDo0obDo0ooDo0oooo0o0bDo0g0oOoo(Ese783)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments

Recognition and initial measurement

Mon-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities

Trade receivables are initially recogniscd when they are origmated, All other financial asscts and
financial liabilitics are mitially recogmised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (unless it 15 a trade receivable without o sigmificant financing component ) or
financial habality 15 initially measured at fair value plus. for an em not at fair value o profit or
loss ("FVTPL™), transaction costs that are dircetly atributable o its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing component i5 initially measured at the transaction price.

Classification and subsequent measurement
Mon-derivative financial assets — Policy applicable from 1 April 2018
O initial recognition, o financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost,

Financial asscts are not reclassificd subscquent to their ininal recognition unless the Company
changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial asscts
are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the chanpe in the business
miodel.

Financial assets at amortised cost

A fimancial asset 15 measured at amortised cost if 1t meets both of the following conditions and is
naot designated as at FYTPL:

® it is held within a business model whose objective 15 to hold assets to eolleet contractual cash
Nows; and

s s coniraciual terms give rise on specified dates o cash flows that are solely paymenis of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets: Business model assessment

The Company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which o finpncial
assel is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and
information is provided to management. The information considered includes:

¢  the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice.
These include whether management's strategy focuses on carning contracteal interest ingome,
muaintaining o particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the
duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash Mows through the
sale of the assets;

# how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company's management;

# the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within
that business model) and how those fisks are manaped;

» how managers of the business are compensated — ¢.g. whether compensation is based on the
fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

s the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for
such sales and expectations about future sales actvity,
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Financial instruments { continued)

Transfers of fimancial assets to third panies in ransactions that do not qualify for derecogninion are
not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Company s continuing recognition of the
asscls,

Non-derivative financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely
paymients of principal and interest — Policy applicable from 1 April 2018

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on
imitial recognition.  ‘Toterest” 15 defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the
credit risk associated with the principal amount cutstanding during a particular period of tme and
for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), a5 well as a
profil margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of pnncipal and interest, the
Company considers the contractual terms of the instrument.  This includes assessing whether the
financial asset containg 2 contraciual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual

cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Compoamy
considers:

¢ conbngent events that would change the amount or tming of cash fows;
#  terms that may adjust the contracual coupon rate, including vanable rate features;
s« prepayment and extension featres, and

terms that limit the Company's claim to cash flows from specified assets (2.g. non-recoursce

features).
Non-derivative financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses
Financinl ussets af amoriised cost
These asseis are subsequently mensured at amortised cost using the effective mnterest method. The
amontised cost is reduced by impaimment losses. Interest income, forcign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognised in profitor loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in
profit or loss,
Non-derivative inancial assets — Policy applicable before 1 April 2018
Non-derivative finencial assets
The Company recognises non-derivanive financial assets into the loans and receivables category,
Lawaris el receivabies
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determimahble payments that are not guoted
in an aciive markel. Such asseis are recognised ntially at fair value plus any directly attributable
tramsaction costs,  Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and reccivables arc measurcd at
amorfised cost using the effectivie interest method, less any impairment losses.
Loans and receivables comprise trade and other receivables, and cash and cash equivalents,

sl ond cash eguivalents

Cash and cash equivalems comprise cash and bank balances.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.2 Financial instruments (continued)
Now-dermvative frienciol Babilities

The Compaiiy initially recognises lnancial labilities on the tade date at which the Compaiiy
becomes a panty o the commactual provisions of the instrement,

The Company derccognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or
cancelled or expired.

Financial assets and liabilitics are offsct and the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends
cither to seitle om 3 net basis or o realise the asset and settle the liabilhity simultancously,

The Company’s non-denvative finangial habilines comprise trade and other payables.

Such financial liabilities arc recogmised imtially at far value less any directly attributable
transaction costs, Subsequent 1o imitial recogmition, these financin! liabilitics are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest methed.  These financial hiabilitics comprise trade and
other payable and berrowings.

] Derecognition
Financial asseis

The Company derecognises a finangial asset when the contractual rights o the cash Mlows from the
financial asset expire, or it transfers the nghts to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction
in which substantially all of the rigks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred
or in which the Company neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership and it docs not retain control of the financial asset.

The Company enicrs into transactions wherchy it iransfers asseis recognised in iis statement of
financial position, but retains cither all or substantially all of the nisks and rewards of the transfermed
assets. In these cases, the transferred assets are not derccognised.

Financial liabilities

The Company derccognises a financial liability whemn its contraciual obligations are discharged or
cancelled, or expire. The Company also derecognises a financial liability when its rerms ane
modified and the cash flows of the modified liohility are substantially different, m which case o
new financial liability based on the modified werms is recopnised at fair value.

On derecognition of a Anancial Liabihty, the difference between the carryving amount extinguished
and the consideration paid (including any non-cash asscis wansforred or liabiliics assumed) is
recogniscd in profit or loss,

{iv) Difsetting
Financial assets and financial Liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of
financial position when, and only when, the Company currently has a legally enferceable right to
sct of f the aomounts and 1t mtends cither to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultancously.

iv) Cash and cash equivalenis

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances used by the Company in the management of its
short=term commitments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting

Drerivative financial instruments include forward currency coniracts. These are used te manage the
Company s exposure to risks associated with foreign currency,

Derivative financial mnstnoments are initially recognised at Bir value on the date on which a
derivative contract is entered into and are subscquently remeasured at fair valug, Derivative
financial instruments are carmed os asseis when the far value 15 positive and as linbilities when the
fair value 13 ncgative.

The fair valwe of forward currency contracts and mterest rate denvatives are calculated by reference
1o current forward exchange rates and interest migs respectively for contracts with similar matarity
profiles.

Hedge acconnting

The Company applics hedge accounting for cerain hedging relationships which qualify for hedge
accounting. For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as cash flow hedges when
hedging exposure to variability in cash flows that is cither attributable to a particular risk assecinted
with a recognised asset or lability or a highly probable forceast rransaction or the forcign currency
risk in an unrecognised firm commitment.

Cash flow hedges

For each cash fMow hedpe relanonship, the effective part of any gain or loss on the denvative
financial mstrament 15 recognised directly in other comprehensive income.  Amounts recognised
as other comprehensive income are transferred to profit or loss when the hedped transachion affects
profitor boss. The ineffective pan of any gain or loss is recognised immediately in the Consolidared
Profit and Loss Accounts at the ime hedge effectiveness is tested.

When a cash flow hedge is discontinued, any cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive ineome will remain in the cash flow hedge reserve until the future cash Mows oceur,
IF the hedized fwore cash Nows no longer expected (o occur, the wel cumulatve gain or loss is
immediately reclassified io profii or loss.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classificd as cquity, Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
ordinary sharcs are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effeeis.

Plant and egquipment
Recagririon ad meqasurement

Ttems of plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulaned
impairment losses,

Cost includes expendimere that is dirgetly attributable w the acquisition of the asser. Purchased
software that is intcgral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of thai
COuipmcni.

When parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for ns
separate iems (major components) of plant and equipment,

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of plant and cquipment 15 determined by companing the
proceeds from dispesal with the carrying amount of plant and equipment, and 15 recognised net
within other expenses in profit or foss,
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Plant and equipment {continued)
Subsequent cosis

I'he cost of replacing a component of an item of plant and cquipment 15 recognised in the carmying

amount of the item if it is probable that the future economie benefits embodied within the
component will flow to the Company, and its cost can be measured reliably, The camying amount
of the replaced component 15 derecognised. The costs of the dav-to-day servicing of plant and
cquipment are recognised in profit or loss as mowrred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value, Significant components of
individual assets are assessed and iF a component has a wseful life that is different from the
rernander of that asset, that component is depreciaied scparaicly

Depreciation is recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimaied
usefinl lives of cach component of an item of plant and cquipment,

Diepreciation is recogniscd from the date that the plant and cquipment are installed and are ready
fior use.

The cstimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

Computers = 3 wears
Office squipment - 3 years
Furniture and fittings - 3 years

Deprecianon methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of cach reporting
period and adjusted if appropriate.

Impairment
Non-derivative financial assets and contract assets
Paliey applicable from 1 April 2018

The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses ("ECLs™) on financial assets
measured at amortised costs,

Loss allowanees of the Company are measured on ¢ither of the following bases:

¢ 12-month ECLs; these are ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12
months after the reporting date (or for a shorter period if the expected life of the instrament is
less than 12 months), or

s Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default evenis over the expected
life of a financial instrument or contract assel.

Simplified approaci

The Company applics the simplificd approach to provide for ECLs for all wrade receivables and
contract asscts, The simplificd approach requires the loss allowance 1o be measured at an amount
equal o lifetime ECLs.

Gerreral approacl

The Company applics the general approach to provade for ECLs on all other financial imstruments

and FGCs. Under the general approach, the loss allowance 1= measured at an amount equal to [2-
month ECL= at initial recognition,
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment (continued )

At cach reporting date, the Company assesses whether the credin risk of a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, 'When credit risk has increased significantly since
imitial recogmition, loss allowance 15 measured at an amount equal to hifeome ECLs.

When determining whether the eredit nisk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recopnition and when estiimating ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and supportable
information that % relevant and available without undue cost or effort.  This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical experience
and informed credit asscssment and includes forward-looking information.

If eredit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition or if the credit quality of the
financial instruments improves such tiat there is no longer a significant increase in credit nisk since
initial recognition, loss allowance 15 measured at an amount equal o 12-month ECLs,

The Company considers a tinancial assct 1o be i default when:

s the borrower i unlikely 1o pay itz eredit obligations to the Company in full, withowt recourse
by the Company to actions such as realising security (if any 1s held); or
# the fimancial asset 13 more than 90 days past due,

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Company is exposed to eredit risk,

Measurement of ECLx

ECLs are probability-weighted cstimates of credit losses. Credii losses are measured af the preseni
value of all cash shortfalls (Le. the differcnce between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance
with the contract and the eash flows that the Company expects to receive). ECLs are discounted at
the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

Credit-imipaired finaneial axsets

At cach reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carmed at amortizsed cost are

credit-impaired. A financial asset is “credit-impaired’ when one or more cvents that have a

detmmental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the finaneial asset have occurred,

Evidence that a financial asset is eredit-impaired includes the fallowing observable data:

# sigmificant financial difficulty of the borrower or issucr;

o a breach of comract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due;

s the restruciuring of a loan or advance by the Company on terms that the Company would not
consider otherwise, or

s it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptey or ather fnaneal reorganisation.

Presentution of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost and contract assets are deducted
from the gross carrving amount of these asscts.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment (continued )
Write-off

Ihe gross carrying amount of a financial asset s wntten off (cither partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realisie prospect of recovery. Thig 1g penerally the case when the Company
determines that the debtor does not have assets ot sources of income that could generate sufficient
cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial asscts that are writen
off could sull be subject to enforcoment activitics i order to comply with the Company's
procedures for recovery of amounis duc,

Policy applicable before 1 Aprl 2018
Non-derivative firanciol asseis

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss 15 assessed at the end of cach
reporting period to determine whether there s objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial
asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the inital
recognition of the assct, and that the loss event had a negative offect on the estimated future cash
flows of that assct that can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial asseis are impaired can include default or delinguency by a debior,
restrecturing of an amount duc 1o the Company on terms that the Company would not consider
otherwise, mdications that a debtor or issecr will enter bankruptey, adverse changes in the payment
status of borrowers or isguers in the group, cconomic conditions that correlate with defaults or the
disappearance of an active market for a security.

Loy amd receivables

The Cempany considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables at both a specific asset
and collective level. All individually significant loans and receivables are assessed for specific
impairment. All indivicdually significant receivables found not to be specifically impaired are then
collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurmed but not vet wentified.  Loans and
receivables thai are noi individually significant are collectively asscssed for impairmeni by
grouping together loans and receivahles with similar nsk charactenistics

In assessimg collecnve impairment, the Company used histoneal mformation on the timing of
recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, and made an adjustment if current cconomie and crodit
conditions were such that the actual losses were likely 10 be greater of lesser than suppested by
historical trends.

An mpairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost 15 calculated as the
difference between its carmying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash Nows,
discoumted ar the asset’s onginal effective interest mte. Losses are recopnised in profit or loss and
reflected in an allowanee account against loans and receivables.  Interest on the impaired asset
continues fo be recognised. When the Company considers that there are no realistic prospects of
recovery of the asset, the relevant amounts are writien of £ 1f the amount of impairment loss
subsequently decreases and the decrease can be relaned objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, then the previously recogmised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss,
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment (continued )
Non=financial assers

Ihe carmying amounts of the Company s non-financial assets, other than deferred tax assets, are
reviewed at each reporting date o determine whether there is any indication of impairment. 1f any
such indication exists, then the assct’s recoverable amount is estimated,  An impainment loss is
recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generaing unit (CGL) exceeds its
cstimated recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU i the greater of its valee i use and s fair value less
costs (o sell. In assessimg value o use, the csimaied fulure cash flows are discounted 1o their
present value using a pre-tix discount rate that refleets current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific o the asset or CGLL For the purpose of impairment [esing, asscls
that cannot be iested individually are grouped fogether into the smallest group of asseis thai
penerates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other
pssets or CGLs

Impairment |osses ane recognised in profit or loss, Impairment losscs recognised in respect of
CGUs are allocated 1o reduce the carrving amounts of the assets in the CGU (group of CGUS) on a
pra rata basis,

Impairment Iosses recognised in prior periods ane gssessed at cach reporting date for any indications
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists,  An impairment loss 15 reversed if there has been a
change in the estimates used 1o determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed
only o the extent that the asset’s camying amount dogs nod exeesd the carmving amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no imparment loss had been recognised.

Employee benefits
Defined contriburivn plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-cmployment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
amounts, Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised s an
employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the peneds during which related services are renadered
by emiplayees,

Shori-ferm employee benefies

Shaort-term employee bencfit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed
as the related service is provided. A liability is recopnised for the amount expected 1o be paid under
short-term cash bonus if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a resull of past service provided by the emplovee, and the obligation can be estimated
reliably.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it

15 probable that an owtflow of cconomic resources will be required to settle the obligation and the
amount of the obligation can be estimared reliably.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Management fee

Management fee 1s denved from the management of the business trust and comprises base fee and
performance fee which are respectively determined based on the value of the total assets of the
busincss trust on a consolidated basis, and the adjusted net operating income of the investments of
business trust, Management fee 15 recognised on an acerual basis,

Acyuisition, divestmens and one-time initiol setup fees

Acquuisition and divestment fees relate 1w foes camed in relation 1o the acquisition and divestment
of asscts by business trust. The acquisition and divestment foes are determined based on the value

of the assets acquired and divested and are recopmised when the services have been rendered.

Crne-time imitial setup fee relates o acquisition fee for work done in connection with the acquisition

of the initial portfolio by business trust. The fiee is recopnised when the services have been rendered.

Finance income

Finance income compriscs intcrest mcome on deposits placed with banks, Interest income is
recognised in profit or loss as it acerues, using the effective intercst method.

Forcign currency gains and losses on financial asscts and financial liabilitics arc reparted on a net
basis as either finance income or finance cost depending on whether forcign cormency movements
arg in @ net gain or net loss position,

Lease payments

Pavmenis made under operating leases are recognised i profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease.

Tax

Tax cxpense comprises current and deferred tax, Current tax and deferred 1ax is recognised in
profit or loss except to the extent that it relates 1o a business combination, or items recognised
directly in equity or in other comprehensive income

The Company has determined that nterest and penalties related 1o imcome taxes, including
uncertain @ax treatments, do not meet the definition of income taxes, and therefore accounted for
them under FRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liahilitics and Consingent Assets.

Current tax 15 the expected tax pavable or receivable on the table income or loss for the year,
using ax rafes cnacled or substantively enacted at the reporung date, and any adjustment 1o (ax
payable in respect of previous years. The amount of the current tax payable or receivable is the
best estimate of the tax amount expected to be pmd or received that reflects unceramty related 1o
income taxes, if any.

Dreferred tax ts recopnised i respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for mxation purposes.
Deferred tax is not recognised for temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or

liabalitics 1 a transaction that 15 not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor
taxable profits or boss,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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312 Tax (continued)

Deferred 1ax 15 megsured at the tax rates that are expected to be applicd to temporary differences
when they reverse, based on the lows that have been cnacted or substantively cnacted by the
teporiing date.

Deeferred 1ax assers and linbilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right 1o offset current
toxe lighilities and assets and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable
entity and the Company intends to settle current tax labilities and asseis on a net basis or their tax
assets and liabilities will be realised simultancously.,

A deferred ax asser 15 recognised for unused rax losses, ax credits and deductible emporary
differences, to the extent that it 1s probable that future axable profits will be available against which
they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at cach reporting date and are reduced to the
extent that if 15 no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

In determining the amount of current and defemred tax, the Company takes into account the impact
of unceriain tax positions and whether additional taxes and inierest may be due. The Company
belicves that its nccruals for tax linbilitics are adequate for all open tax vears bascd on its asscssment
of many factors including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relics
on estimates and asswmplions and may invelve a serics of judgements aboul lutare evenis. New
information may become available that causes the Company to change its judgement regarding the
adequacy of existing tax liabiliies, Such changes to tax Gabilitics will impact tax expense in the
perind that such a determination is made

313 Mew standards and interpretations not adopted

A number of new standards and interpretations and amendments to standards are effective for
annual periods beginning after | Apnl 2018 and carlier application i permitted; howewver, the
Company has not early adopied the new or amended standards and interpretations in preparing
these financial statements,

The FRS 116 Leases is effective for annual periods beginning on or after | April 2009
FRS 116

FRS 116 introduces a single, on-halance sheet lease accounting model for lessees, A lessec
recognises a right-of-use (ROL) nsset representing its nght to use the underlying assct and a lease
liability represenning iis obligation to make lease paymenis, There are recognition exemptions for
short-term leases and leases of low-value items, Lessor accounting remains similar to the corrent
standard - 1e. lessors continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases. FRS 116 replaces
existing lease accounting guidance, including FRS 17 Lepses, INT FRS 104 Defermining whesher
an Arrangement comtains a Lease, INT FRS 15 (perating Leases — focentives and INT FRS 27
Evalwating: the Substanice of Transactions Invelving the Legal Form of o Leave. The standard is
cifective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2009, with carly adoption permitted.

The Company plan to apply FRS 116 initially on | Apnil 20019, using the modified retrospective
approach.  Therefore, the cumulative cffect of adopting FRS 116 will be recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balanee of retained camings ot | Apnl 2009, with no restatement of
comparative information. The Company plan 1o apply the practical expedient to grandfather the
definition of a lease on transition, This means that they will apply FRS 116 to all coniracts enfered
into before | Apnl 2009 and identnfied as leases in accordance with FRS 17 and INT FRS 104,
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
313 New standards and interpretations not adopted {continued)
The Company as lessee

The Company expect to measure lease habilities by applying a smgle discount rate to their portfolio
of warchouse and factory facilities leases.  Furthermore, the Company are likely to apply the
practical expedient to recognise amounts of ROLU assets equal to their lease liabilitics at 1 Aprnil
2019, For lease contracts that contain the option to renew, the Company 1s expected to use hindsight
in determining the lease term.

The Company has performed a preliminary high-level assessment of the new standard on its
exisling operaling lease armangements as a lessee (refer o note 15),  Based on the preliminary
assgssment, the Company expects these operating leases to be recognized as RO assets with
correspondimg lease labilitics under the new standard.  The operating lease commitments on an
undiscounted basis amount o approximately 7% of total assets and 15996 of wial habilines.
Assuming no additional new operating leases in future vears until the effective date, the Company
expects the amount of ROU assct and lease linbility to be lower duc to discounting and as the lease
terms run down,

The Company expeets to recognise ROL assets with corresponding lease liabilitics under FRS 116
if the lease armangement renews more than one year subsequent o the expiry date.

The nature of cxpenses related to those leases will change as FRS 116 replaces the straight-ling

operating lease expense with depreciation charge for ROLU assets and interest cxpense on lease
liabalitics.

4 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Offhce Furniture and
Computers equipment hittings Total
-3 ] 5 -
Cost
Al Apnl 2007 34 828 R9l6 56,497 1t 241
Additions - - 55312 55312
Written-off - - {56.497) (56.497)
At 31 March 2018 and
31 March 2019 34828 RAlh 55312 G {156
Accomulated
depreciation
At 1 Apnl 2017 23236 4,353 30665 58254
Depreciation charge
for the vear T.132 2463 11,304 20,893
Wrinten-off’ = - {d] 965) (41.%5:5)
At 3] March 2018 30368 hElG - 37,184
Depreciation charge
for the vear 2655 2100 I 1,063 15818
At 3] March 2019 33023 B916 11,0063 53,002
Carrving amounls
At 1 Apnl 2017 115492 4 563 25 852 41,987
At 31 March 2018 T L 2,100 332 61,872
At 31 March 20019 | RS = 44 249 46,054
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5 FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES

019 8
5 5
Forward exchange contracts uzed for hedging - 36439
6 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2019 2018
5 5
Amount duc from Accordin Golf Trust
- Trade 632 RS HINNOTH
— Non trade 12,936 70,451
Accrued revenue from Accordia Golf Trust El6 472 221,317
Deposits 63,582 91,349
Accrued inderest income 32365 1, 206
Others 2438 | B0
1,260, 585 1,321 229

Ounstanding balances with Accosdia Golf Trust was unsccured, nterest-free and repavable
in demand, There is no allowanee for doubaful deb arising from this oustanding balance,

The Company's expasure to credin risk related for trade and other receivables is disclosed in
note 17.

7 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

e s
5 5

Cash and bank balances 508,521 1,364,752
Fixcd deposits placed with financial institutions 3610827 2,580,585
Cash and cash equivalenis in the statement of financial

position 4,119 548 3,945 337
Fixed deposit pledged with a financial institution [ B H V] { SO, (HIN)
Cash and cash equivalenis in the statement of cash flows 3,119 348 3445337

The fixed deposits placed with financial instinitions mamre within the next 12 months and bear
interest mates of 1 18% do L95% (2018 0.66% to LX) per anmum, The fixed deposit of
S1ORD N0 (240 82 S500,0060) 15 pledged with a financial institution for foreign exchange forward
facility.
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No. of shares  No. of shares

Issued and Tolly paid ordinary shares, with no par value:

At I Apnland 31 March

H25. (KM}

25 (M)
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The holders of ordinary shares are entitled 1o receive dividends as declared from tme to ome, and
are entitled to one vote per share at mectings of the Company, All shares rank cqually with regard

to the Company's residual asscts.

Capital muragement

The Board's policy is to maintain o sound capital position to support its business prowth and

stratcgec investments.

There were no changes in the Company ‘s approach o capital management during the yvear.
The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requircncnts,

Hedying reserve

Hedging reserve records the portion of the fair value changes on financial derivatives that were

designated as hedging mstruments which were determined to be effective hedges,

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/ (LIABILITIES)

Movement in deferred tax assets/ (habilities) of the Company during the year is as follows:

Recognised Recogmised

Al in profit or At in profit or At
V42017 loss (note 14) IUNI008 loss (note 14)  31/372009

5 b3 s 5 5
Plant and equipment (7,139 2715 {4.424) (530 (4,960}
Provisions 918 (T3 | 58 8,236 B424
(6,221} 1985 14,236} 7,700 3,464

10 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2019 1%

5 3
Trade payables 19,190 97,714
Amount due o related corporations (trade) - 46,8554
Amount due i related corporations (non-trade) 27385 -
Accrued operating expenses 127,711 153 46K
Goods and Services Tax payvable 35476 28,356
200,762 326,452

The Company's exposure 1o currency and liquidity risks related o wade and other payables are

disclosed in note 17,

F519
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11 REVENUE

e
5

Management fee 2.505.919

Ooooooooooooooooooad

s
5

3.011.325

The following table provides information abour the nare and tming of the satisfaction of
performance obligations in contracts with customers, including significant payment terms, and the

related revenue recognition policies:

Mature of services The Company provides trustce-management services o the |
business trust, which comprisces of base and performance fees,

of business trust.

When revenne is recopnised | Management foe is recognised over time, caleulated based on the
value of the total assets of the business trust on a consolidaed
basis and the adjusted net operating income of the imvestments

Significant pavment (erms Imvaices are pavable within 30 davs from the datg of invoice.

12 FINANCE INCOME

s

34,242
3,136

109
£
Interest income 63,8493
Net exchange (loss) eain (48,205)
15 688

37,378

13 PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The following items have been included in arrivimg at profic before tax:

e
5
Salaries and bonuses | BH5, 300
Contributions to defined contribution plans 48,582
Other personnel expenscs 122 9599

LEI 216
48077
54,076

F520
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TAX EXPENSE

Current tax expense
Current year
Under/{Cver) provision in prior year

Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences

Total tax expenze

Reconcilintfon of effeciive rax rafe

Prafit before tax

Tax using the Singapors tax rate of 17% (20018 1TH)
Non-deductible expenses

Under{(hver) provision in prior year

Tax incentive

Tax rehate

Dthers

OPERATING LEASE

Ooooooooooooooooooad

2019 2018
5 5

22174 3320
40 (5.401)
222104 27.710
(7,700 i 1,955)
14,514 25725
61,316 1874919
27,424 63946
4404 1,620
41 (5,491
(20,445) (29.6592)
2 (. 300)
3,0H0] (358)
14,514 25725

At the reporting date, the Company has commitment for future minimum lease payments under

nen=cancellable operating leases as follows:

Within one year
Between one and five vears

2019 2018
s 5
291 498 197,848
77,9400 204 288
360,398 402,136

The Company leases its office and apartments for the expatriates under operating lease, The lease
runs for a period of 1 1o 2 vears and the Company has the option to renew the lease by the end of

lease term.

F521

263/355



16

17

EDINETOOOO
Oo0ooooooooobo0oDo0obDo0ooDo0oooo0o0bDo0g0oOoo(Ese783)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

RELATED PARTIES

Key muragement personnel compensation

Key management personnel of the Company are those persons having authonty and responsibility
for planning, dirccting and controlling the activities of the Company, direcily or indirectly. The
directors of the Company are considercd as key management personng],

The key management personnel compensation, representing compensation o dircctors of the
Company, for the year is as follows:

e 2018
5 5
Salarics amd other short-terim emplovee benelits 879399 B68 044

(Mher redated party transactions

Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following were the significant
transactions between the Company and its related parties which were carried out at terms agreed
between the pantics duning the financial year:

2019 18
5 5

Accordia Golf Trust
Management e (2,.895919) (3.011,325)
Expenses paid on behalf 132,140 2. 500
Related corporations
Human resource and administrative service rendered |58 877 208,940
Expenses paid on behalf 3015 -3
Rental expense - |4%, 722

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(herview
The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments;
« eredit risk
= lequidity risk
+ market risk
This note presents information about the Company's exposure 1o cach of the above nsks, the

Company s objectives, policies and processes for mensuring and managing risk, and the Company 's
management of capital,
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibality for the establishment and oversight of the
Company s risk management framework,

The Company's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the nsks faced by
the Company, to sct appropriate risk limis and controls, and o monitor risks and adberence 1o
lmits, Risk management policics and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market
conditions and the Company’s activitics. The Company, through its raining and management
standards and procedurcs, aims to develop a disciplingd and constructive control environment in
which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

Credii risk

Credin risk is the risk of financial loss w the Company if a customer or counterparty 1o a fnancial
instrument fails o meet its contractual obligations. and arises principally from the Company's
receivables from customers.

At the reporting date, the Company s primary exposurc 1o credit risk arises through its receivables
from a related corporation. The carrying ameunis of financial asseis in the siatement of financial
position represent the Company’s maximum cxposure 1o crodit risk.

Tmpuirment losses

Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired mainly anse from creditworthy deblors
with good payvment record with the Company. The Company belicves that no mmpa rment allowance
is necessary in respect of receivables not past due. As at the reporting date, there are no receivables
past due.

Cash and cash equivalenis

The Company held cash and cash equivalents of 54,0119 34% (20018: £3,945337) as ai 31 March
2009, which represents ils maximum credit exposure on these assets. The cash and cash equivalents
are held with bank and financial institutions which are regulated. Impairment on cash and cash
equivalents has been measured on the 1 2-month expected boss basis and reflects the short maturitics
of the exposures. The Company considers that its cash and cash cquivalent have low credit nzk
based on the external rating of the counterpartics. The amount of the allowance on cash and cash
equivalents was negligible,

Liguidity risk

Liguidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the ebligations
associated with its financial liabilitics that are settled by delivening cash or another financial assct,

Im the management of liquidity risks, the Company monitors and mamtains a bevel of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adeguate by the management to finance the Company's opermtions and mitigate
the effeers of fluctuations in cash flow,

F523
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The following are the contraciual mamrities of financial liabilities excluding the impact of neting

Agrecments:
Cash Mows
Carrving Contractual Within Within
amount cash flows 1 year 1 to 5 vears
5 5 s 5

31 March 2019
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Trade and other pavables 209,762 {209, T62) (209,762) —
31 March 2018
MNon-derivative linancial
liahilities
Trade and other payables 326,452 (326,452) {326,452) -

Derivative financial

imsiruments
Forward cxchange
contracts used for
hedging (gross-settled ) 36,459
- Ouiflow - (1,231,276)  (1,231,276) =
- Inflow - 1,267,715 1,267,715 -
36,439 36,439 36,439 -
362 ED| (200,013) (240,01 3)

The disclosure shows net cash flow amounts for derivarives that are cash senled and gross cash
inflow and outflow amounts for denvatives that have simultancous gross cash setilement c.p
forward exchange contracts.

Marker risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as forcign exchange rates and interest
rates will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial mstruments. The
objective of market risk management is 0 manage and control marker risk exposures within
acceptable parameters, while optimising the returmn.

Fuoreign currency risk

The Company is exposed 10 currency risk on purchases and cash balances that are denominated in
Japanese yen (JPY').

The Company uses derivative financial instrements to hedpe itz currency risk.

Management reviews penodically 1o ensure that the net exposure is kept at an acceptable level.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Company ‘s exposure io foreign currency risk is as follows:

019 018
JPY JPY
5 §
Cash and cash equivalenis 97,735 139,70
Trade and other pavables 132,588) (48.313)
Met cxposure 65,147 9| _3%7

Nemsitivity analysis

A sirengthening of the SGD aganst the JPY at 31 March 20019 would have increased{decreased)
profit ar loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis is based on foreign currency exchange
rate variances that the Company considered to be reasonably possible at the end of the reporting
period, The analysis assumes that all other vanables, in particular interest rates, remain constant
and ignores amy impact of forecasted purchases.

Profit or loss
0% 10%%a
strengthening  weakening
s 5

31 March 2019
IPY (6.515) 6,515

31 March 2018
IPY (9.139) 9139

Accanmnting classifications and fair values

The carrving amounts of financial assets and liabilities, which are not measured at fair value as
shown i the statiement of financial position, arc as follows, Information on fir value of financial
asscts and financial liabilities are not disclosed when their carrying amounis are reasonable
approximation of their fair values.

The carrying amounts of fnancial assets and liabalities with a matunty of less than one year
{including cash and cash equivalents, rade receivables and other payvables) approximate their fair
values because of the short peniod to matunity.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The fair value of forward exchange contracis (Level 2 fair values) used for hedging is based on
market companson technique. The fair value are based on broker quotes. Similar contracts are
trade in an active market and the quotes reflect the actual ransactions in similar instrument.

Financial assels at Oihier Total
amoriised Timancial CArrving
Note cast liahilities amount
5 s 5
31 March 2019
Financial assets not
measured at Tair value
Trade and other
receivables [ 1,260,588 - 1,260,558
Cash and cash
equivalenis 7 4,119,348 - 4,119,348
5,379,936 - 5. 379,936
Financial liabilities not
measured at fair valne
I'ade and other
payables® I = (174,286) {174,286)
Fair value
Other through ather Total
Loans and  financial  comprehensive  carrying
Note receivables  linbilities ineome amouni
8 s 5 5
31 March 2018
Financial assets not
measured at fair value
Treade and other
reccivables 6 1,321,229 1,321,229
Cash and cash
cquivalents 73945337 - - 3945337
5,266, 566 - - 5.266, 566
Financial asseis
measured
at fair value
Forward exchange
contracts used for
hedging 5 - - 36,439 36439
Financial liabilities not
measured ai Tair value
Trade and other
payables® 1 - {298,056) = (298 056)

*  Exclude Goods and Service Tax payable

F526
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€))
2017 4 1 2018 3 31
2018 3 31

2018 3 31 2017 3 31

4 61,872 41,987
61,872 41,987

5 36,439 54,370
6 1,321,229 1,357,603
107,179 81,335

7 3,945,337 3,521,254
5,410,184 5,014,562
5,472,056 5,056,549

8 625,000 625,000
4,514,094 4,151,900

8 (31,587) (11,244)
5,107,507 4,765,656

9 4,236 6,221
4,236 6,221

10 326,452 262,612
33,861 22,060

360,313 284,672

364,549 290,893

5,472,056 5,056,549
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2017 4 1 2018 3 31
2017 4 1 2016 4 1

2018 3 31 2017 3 31

11 3,011,325 3,155,705
464 4,317
(1,942,369) (2,112,804)
(179,752) (204,380)
- (18,672)
(23,191) (37,527)
(152,940) (145,822)
(109,455) (90,715)
(253,541) (202,530)

350,541 347,572

12 37,378 39,220
13 387,919 386,792
14 (25,725) (25,397)
362,194 361,395
(20,343) (11,244)
(20,343) (11,244)

341,851 350,151
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2017 4 1 2018 3 31

2017 4 1 2018 3 31

2016 4 1 625,000 3,790,505 - 4,415,505
- 361,395 - 361,395
- - (11,244) (11,244)
- - (11,244) (11,244)
- 361,395 (11,244) 350,151

2017 3 31 625,000 4,151,900 (11,244) 4,765,656

2017 4 1 625,000 4,151,900 (11,244) 4,765,656
- 362,194 - 361,194
- - (20,343) (20,343)
- - (20,343) (20,343)
- 362,194 (20,343) 341,851

2018 3 31 625,000 4,514,094 (31,587) 5,107,507
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2017 4 1 2018 3 31
2017 4 1 2016 4 1
2018 3 31 2017 3 31

387,919 386,792
20,895 24,077
14,532 -
(34,242) (35,479)

389,104 375,390
25,379 (8,241)
(25,844) (4,114)
63,840 82,467
(2,412) (65,614)

450,067 379,888
(15,909) (33,775)

434,158 346,113
45,237 18,278

(55,312) (7,968)

- (500,000)
(10,075) (489,690)
424,083 (143,577)
3,021,254 3,164,831
7 3,445,337 3,021,254
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25

2017 4 1

2018 3 31

80

068898 80 Robinson Road, 22-03A, Singapore 068898
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3.10

3.11

3.12

3.13
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3.14

2017 4 1

IFRS
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2018

FRS15

FRS115

FRS115

FRS115 FRS18
FRS11 INT FRS113

INT
FRS115 INT
FRS118 INT
FRS31

FRS115 2018

FRS115
2018 3
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2019
FRS 116
FRS116
15
12
%

FRS116 FRS17 73

FRS17

FRS116
2020 3
FRS116 2019 3
FRS17 FRS 104

FRS115

FRS116 2019

FRS127

FRS15

284/355



EDINETOOOO
Oo0ooooooooobo0oDo0obDo0ooDo0oooo0o0bDo0g0oOoo(Ese783)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

4
2016 4 1 26,860 8,916 56,497 92,273
7,968 - - 7,968
2017 3 31 34,828 8,916 56,497 100,241
- - 55,312 55,312
- - (56,497) (56,497)
2018 3 31 34,828 8,916 55,312 99,056
2016 4 1 13,430 1,381 19,366 34,177
9,806 2,972 11,299 24,077
2017 3 31 23,236 4,353 30,665 58,254
7,132 2,463 11,300 20,895
- - (41,965) (41,965)
2018 3 31 30,638 6,816 - 37,184
2016 4 1 13,430 7,535 37,131 58,096
2017 3 31 11,592 4,563 25,832 41,987
2018 3 31 4,460 2,100 55,312 61,872
5
2018 3 31 2017 3 31
36,439 54,370
2018 3 31 2017 3 31
AGT
630,076 651,064
70,481 -
AGT 521,317 550,008
91,349 137,677
6,206 17,201
1,800 1,653
1,321,229 1,357,603
AGT
17
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2018 3 31 2017 3 31
1,364,752 974,415
2,580,585 2,546,839
3,945,337 3,521,254
(500,000) (500,000)
3,445,337 3,021,254

12 0.66 1.80 2017 3
500,000 2017 3

2018 3 31 2017 3 31
625,000 625,000

286/355



EDINETOOOO

Oo0ooooooooobo0oDo0obDo0ooDo0oooo0o0bDo0g0oOoo(Ese783)

14)

(119)
779

2017 3 31

7,139

(918)

2018 3 31
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660

6,221

9
2016 4 1

7,258
(1,697)
5,561

10

11

12

2018 3 31

2017 3 31

2017 4 1
2018 3 31

3,011,325

2017 3 31

2017 4 1
2018 3 31

2017 3 31
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2017 4 1 2016 4 1
2018 3 31 2017 3 31
1,810,216 1,924,673
48,077 49,744
84,076 138,387
2017 4 1 2016 4 1
2018 3 31 2017 3 31
33,201 24,737
(5,491) -
27,710 24,737
(1,985) 660
25,725 25,397
387,919 386,792
65,946 65,755
3,620 5,391
(5,491) -
- (14,309)
(29,692) (25,925)
(8,300) (5,515)
(358) -
25,725 25,397
2018 3 31 2017 3 31
132,888 155,188
132,888 186,657
265,776 341,845
2016 6
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2017 4 1 2016 4 1
2018 3 31 2017 3 31
868,044 966,221

2017 4 1 2017 4 1
2018 3 31 2017 3 31
(3,011,325) (3,155,705)
9,505 81,629
- 22,605
148,722 142,608
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2018 3 31 3,945,337 (2017 3
- 3,521,524 )
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2018 3 31
326,452 (326,452) (326,452)
36,439
C )
- (1,231,276) (1,231,276)
- 1,267,715 1,267,715
36,439 36,439 36,439
362,801 (290,013) (290,013)
2017 3 31
262,612 (262,612) (262,612)
54,370
C )
- (1,163,244) (1,163,244)
- 1,217,614 1,217,614
54,370 54,370 54,370
316,981 (208,241) (208,241)
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2018 3 31 2017 3 31
139,700 137,409
(48,313) (57,677)

91,387 79,732

10 10
(9,139) 9,139

10 10
(7,973) 7,973
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2
2018 3 31
6 1,321,229 - 1,321,229
7 3,945,337 - 3,945,337
5,266,566 . 5,266,566
5 - 36,439 36,439
10 (298,056) - (298,056)
2017 3 31
6 1,357,603 - 1,357,603
7 3,521,254 - 3,521,254
4,878,957 - 4,878,957
5 - 54,370 54,370
10 (234,141) - (234,141)
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Accordin Grolf Trast Management Pre. Lol
Firancind sirfewerais
Year ended 31 March 2005

Statement of financial position
As at 31 March 2018

Nole 2018 207

5 5

Assets
Plant and equipment 4 6l 872 41 987
Mon-current assets 61,872 41 987
Financial derivatives 5 36,430 54,370
Trade and other receivables f 1,321,229 1,357 6003
Prepaymenis 107,179 #1,335
Cash and cash equivalents 7 3945317 3,521,254
Current assets 5410184 5014562
Total asset 5472 056 5056549
Equity
Share capital 8 25 (00 G5 000
Accumulated profits 4. 514,004 4,151 900
Hedging rescrve g _GLIET)  (11.244)
Total equity 5007507 4,765 656
Liabilities
Defermed tax linbilities 9 4,230 6,221
Man-current liabilities 4 236 6,221
Trade and other payables {0 326,452 262612
Cuwreni fax payable 33,861 22 00
Current liahilities 3313 284672
Total liabilities 364,549 201,893
Total equity and liabilities 5472056 5 056,549

The accompanying notes form an integral pan of these fomancial statements.

F5l
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Accordin Grolf Trast Management Pre. Lol
Firancind siehemeniy
Year ended 3] March 2015

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Year ended 31 March 2018

Note 2018 2017
5 5
Revenue 11 3011325 3,155,708
Other income A 4317
Staff costs (1942368 (2,112.5804)
Professional fees {179, 752) (204 380
Human resouree and administrative service fees - {18 672)
Investor relation expenscs (23,191) (37.527)
Operating lease expenses (152 54401 (145.822)
Travelling expenscs {100 4535) {MLT15)
Other expenses (253.541) (2025300
Results from operating activities 350,541 347,572
Finance income 12 37.378 39220
Profit before tax 13 IZ7.910 386,792
Tax expense |4 (25,725} (25,397)
Profit for the vear 362194 361,395
Other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified
subseguently to profit or loss

Changes in fair value of financial hedges (20343} (11.244)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax {23 343) (11, 244)
Total comprehensive income for the year 4] 851 350151

The accompanying notes form an integral par of these [mancial stalements.
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Share  Accumulated  Hedging Taotal
capital profits TESCTVe cquity
5 5 5 5

At | Aprl 20016 625,000 3,700,505 = 4415505
Total comprehensive income

for the vear
[Profit for the vear 361,395 361,395
Mher comprehensive income
Effective portion of changes in

fair value of financial hedges - - (11,244) (11,2445
Taotal other comprehensive

income - - (11.244) (11,244
Total comprehensive income

for the vear - 361,395 (11.244) 350,151
At 31 March 2007 625,000 4,151,900 (11,244) 4,765,656
At 1 Apnl 2017 625,000 4,151,500 (11.244) 4765656
Total comprehensive income

for the vear
{Profit for the year - 362 194 - 362,194
Other comprehensive income
Effective portion of changes in

fair value of financial hedges - — (20, 343) (210,343)
Total other comprehensive
income - - (20.343) 20,343)
Total comprehensive income

for the year = 362, 194 (201,343) 341,851
At 31 March 2008 H23 06} 4,514,094 (31.587) 5107507

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these [imncial statememts.
FS3
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Statenent of cash Mows
Year ended 31 March 2018

Cash Mows from operating activitics
Profit before 1ax

Adjustments for:

Diepreciation of plant and cquipment
Plant and equipment writien-ofl
Interest income

Changes in:

— trade and other receivables

— prepayments

~ trade and other payables

~ finameial derivatives

Cash generated from operations

Tax paid

Met cash Mows from aperaling activities

Cash Mows from investing activities

Interest received

Purchasc of plant and equipment

Fixed deposit pledged with a financial institution
Met cash wied in investing activities

Met increase/{deerease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivaleni ai | Apnl
Cash and cash cquivalents at 31 March

The accompanying notes form an integral pan of these fomancial statements.
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Note

7

2018 27
5 5
IRT wlY A86, 792
20,895 24077
14,532 -
(34.242) {35479
380, 104 375,390
25379 (8.241)
(25, 544) 4014
63 =40 B2 467
(2.412) (65614)
450,067 379 BEH
{15 G4y (33,775)
434,158 36113
45237 18,278
(55,312 (7.H)
= { SO RO
(10,0755 (454 B
424 (183 (143,577
3,021,254 3, 164 831
3,445 337 3021,254
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MNotes to the financial statements
These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authonsed for 1ssue by the Board of Dhrectors on 25 Junc 2018

Domicile and activities

Accordia Goll Trust Management Ple. Lid (the "Company™) is a company incorporated in
Singapore. The address of the Company’s registered office is at 80 Robinson Road, #22-03A,
Singapare OHESGHE

The principal activity of the Company is that of a trustce-manager for Accordia Golf Trust
{business trust),

The Company is a joint venture between Accordia Golf Co., Lid. and Daiwa Real Estate Asset
Management Co. Lid.. Both companies ane incorporated in Japan.

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Financial
Reparting Standards (FRS).

Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, cxcept as otherwisc
desenbed i the accounting policies set oul below,

Functional and presentation currency

These fimancial statements are presented n is Singapore dollars, which is the Company’s
functional currency.  All financial information presented in Singapore dollars, unless otherwise
stated.

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparanon of the financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management io
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of aceounting policics
and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.

Estimates and underying assumplions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 1o accounling

cstimanes are recognised in the perod in which the estimare is revised and in any funure periods
affected.

F&5
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There are no significant areas of critical judgements in the application of accounting policics that
have significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements or assumptions and
estimation unceriaintics that have a significant risk of resalting in a material adjustment within
the next financial vear,

Measurement of fair values

A number of the Company's accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair
values, for both financial and non-financial asscts and liabilines.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or linbility, the Company uses market ohservable datn
as far as possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarch based
on the inputs used in the valuations technigues as follows:

o Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or linbilities;

o Level 20 Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset
or linbility, either direetly (i.c., as prices) or indireetly (i, derived from prices):
and

o Level 30 Inputs for ihe assct or liability that are not based on observable and market daia
{unobscrvahle market daia),

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or liability fall into different levels of the
fair value hicrarchy, then the fair valoe measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same
level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant (o the entine
measurement (with Level 3 being the lowesit).

The Company recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hicrarchy as of the end of the
reporting period during which the change has occurred.

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in note 17
= Valuation of financial instruments

Significant accounting policies

The accounting policics set out below have been applicd consistenily to all periods presented in
these financial statements,

Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional curmeney of the Company at
exchange rates at the rates of the transactions, Monctary asscts and liahilitics denominated in
foreign currencies al the reporting date are translated (o the functional currency af the exchange
rate at that date. The forcign currency gain or 10ss on monetary items is the differcnce between
amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the vear, adjusted for effective
interest and payments during the vear, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the
exchange rate at the end of the vear,

MNon-monctary asscls and habihnes denominated i forcign currencics that are measurcd an far
value are translated to the functional currency ai the exchange rate at the date that the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items in a forcign currency that are measured in terms of historical
cost are translated using the exchange rate at the due of the ransaction. Foreign curmrency
differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss,

F56
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Financial instruments

Finmmcial assers

Initiad recognition ard measurement

Financial assets are recognised when, only when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments. The Company determines the classification of its financial assets

at imatial recognition.

When financial assets arc recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of
financial asscts not at fir value through profic of loss, direetly anributable tmnsaction costs.

Suhsegieent measirement

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Company’s business model for
managing the asset and the comractual cash flow characteristics of the asset.  The Company
classifies debt instruments info amortised cost,

Amartised cost

Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial
asscts are measured at amontised cost using the effective interest methoed, less impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the assets are derecogmised or impaired, and
through amortisation process,

Amortised cost comprise irade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalenis

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances and fixed deposit placed with
financial institutions, that are subject to an insignificant risk 1o changes in their fair value,

Tiiparirrivent

The Company assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses (*ECL' ) associaed
with its deb instrument assets carried at amortizsed cost. For rade receivables only, the Company
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to the lifenme expected credit losses
Derecognition

A financinl assct is derccogmised when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset
has expired. On derccognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration recetved and any cumulative gam or loess that
had been recogmised in other comprehensive income 15 recognised in profit or loss.

Financial fabilities

Initial recognition ard measurement

Financial liabilitics are recognised when, and only when, the Company becomes 2 panty 10 the

contractual provisions of the financial instrument, The Company determines the classification of
its financial liabilites ar inital recognition.
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All financial liabilitics are recogniscd initially at fair valug plus, in the ease of financial liabilitics
not at fair value through profit or loss, dircetly attributable transaction costs.

Nuhseguent neastremend

Adier ininal recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured ai amortised cost
using the effective interest method. Gains and lesses are recopnised in profit or loss when the
lrabilines are derccognised, and through the amortisation process.

Derecognition

A financial hability is derccognised when the obligation under the lighility is discharged or
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability s replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liahility are substantially
mediticd, such an cxchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and the recopnition of a new liability and the difference in the respective carming amournils ane
recogniscd in profit or loss,

Offsetting of financial instroments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount 15 presented in the balance
sheets, when and only when, there is a currently enforceable legal rght o set off the recognised
amounts and there 15 an miention to setile on a net basis, or to realise the asscts and scitle the
lrabilities simultaneously.

Impairment of financial assets

The Company assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exisis individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Company determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in o Company
of financial asscts with similar credit risk chamctenistics and collectively assesses them for
irpairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impaimmeint, and for which an impairment
loss is or continues 1o be recognised, are not included in 2 collective assessment of impairment.
When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carryving amount of impaired financial asset s reduced
directly or if an amount was charged o the allowance account, the amounts charged © the
allowance account arc written off against the carrying value of the financial assct

To determing whether there 15 ebjecnve evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has
been ncurred, the Company considers factors such as the probabality of insolvency or significant
financial difficultics of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments.

Under the new approach, impairment is made on the expected onedit losses, which are the present
value of the cash shortfalls over the expected life of the financial assets.

Prade receivebles

The Company measures the loss allowance for its trade receivables at an smount equal to lifetime
expected credit losses,
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(dhrer fimancial assets

Accordingly, other financial assets are classificd as measured at amortised cost less eapected
impairment losses. The Company’s other financial assets have contractual cash flows that are
solely principal, and interest and the business model's objective is 1o hold these assets o collect
contractual cash flows. Impairment allowances for other financial assets are determined based
on the 1 2-month expected credit loss model.

Dertvative financial instruments, including hedge accounting

Derivative financial instruments include forward cumrency contracts. These are used 1o manage
the Company’s exposure to risks asseciated with foreign cumency,

Denvative financial instiuments are imtially recopnised at fair value on the date on which a
denvative contragt is entered into and are subsequently remeasurcd at fair value.  Denivative
financial instruments are carmed as asscts when the fair value is positive and as habihiies when
the fair valee is negative.

The fair value of forward currency contracts and interest rate derivatives are calculated by
reference to curment forward cxchange rates and interest mtes respectively fior contracts with
similar maturity profiles,

Hedge accounting

The Company apphes hedge accounting for certam hedgmng relationships which qualify for hedge
accounting, For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as cash Nlow hedges when
hedging exposure (o vanability 1 cash flows that is cither attributable w0 a pamicular sk
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction or the
foreign curmency risk in an wnrecognised finm commitment

Cash fow hedpes

For cach cash flow hedge relationship, the effective part of any gain of loss on the denvative
financial instrument is recogniscd directly in other comprehensive income,  Amounts recognised
a5 other comprehensive meome are transferred o profit or loss when the hedged transaction
affects profit or loss. The ineffective part of any gain or loss is recogmised immediately in the
Consolidated Profit and Loss Accounts at the time hedpe effectivencss is tested,

When a cash Mow hedge is discontinued, any cumulative gain or loss previously recogmised in
other comprehensive income will remain in the cash flow hedge reserve until the future cash flows
occur. [Fthe hedged future cash flows no longer expected to ocour, the net cumulative gam or
loss is immedianely reclassified 1o profit or loss.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the ssuce of
ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
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Plant and equipment
Recognition and measurement

Items of plant and equipment are measured at cost less sccumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses,

Cost includes expenditure that 15 dircetly attnbutable to the scquisition of the assct. Purchased
sefiware that is integral to the functienality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that
cquipmenl

When parts of an item of plant and cquipment have different wseful lives, they are accounted for
a5 scparate ilems (major components) of plant and cquipment.

The gaim or loss on disposal of an item of plant and equipment is determined by comparing the
procceds from disposal with the carrying amount of plant and equipment, and 15 recognised net
within other expenses in profit or loss,

Subxeguent coses

I'he cost of replacing a component of an item of plant and equipmient 15 recognised i the carmyimg
amount of the swem f it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the
component will flow to the Company, and its cost can be measured reliably. The earrying amount
of the replaced compenent is dercoognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of plant and
equipmicnt are recogmsed i prodin or loss as ncured.

Depreciation
Depreciation is based on the cost of an assct less its residual value, Significant components of
individual assets are assessed and if a component has a useful life that s different from the

remaxinder of that asset, that component is depreciated separately,

Deprecianon is recopnised a8 an expense in profit of loss on a stesight-lise basis over the
cstimared usclul lives of cach component of an item of plant and cquipment.

Depreciation 18 recopnmized from the date that the plant and equipment are installed and are ready
fior use.

The estimated wseful lives for the current and comparative yvears are as follows:

Computers - 3 years
Office cquipment - 3 years
Furniture and fittings = 5 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residunl values are reviewed ot the end of each reporting
penod and adjusted if appropriate.
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Impairment
Non=financial asseis

I'he carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date
to determing whether there is any indication of impairment. 1f any such indicanion ¢xists, then
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying
amount of on asset or its related cash-gencrating umit {OGU) exceeds its cstimated recoverable
ameunt.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less
costs o sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 1o their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the ime
value of money and the risks specilic o the asset or CGLL For the purpose of impairmenl (esin g,
assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of asscrs that
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash nflows of
ather assets or CGUs,

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respeet of
CGlis are allocated to reduce the camying amownts of the other assets in the CGLU (group of
CGLUsh on a pro rafa basis.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any
indications that the loss has deercased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there
has been a change 1 the estimates used to determune the recovemble amount  An impairment
loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not excecd the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of deprecianon or amortisation, i 0o imparment
loss had been recognised.

Employee benefits
Befined contribution plamns

A defined contribution plan is a post=mployment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
amounts. Obligations for contributions (o defined contribution pension plans are recopnised as
an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which related services arg
rendered by employees,

Short-term employes benefirs

Short-term cmplovee benefit obligations are measurcd on an undiscounted basis and are expensed
as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid
under short-term cash bonus if the Company has a present Legal or constructive obligation to pay
this amount as a result of past serviee provided by the employee, and the obliganon can be
estimated reliably.
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2.9 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obliganion as a result of & past event,
it is probable that an outflow of cconomic resources will be required o seitle the obligation and
the amount of the obligation can be estimated relinbly.

.10 Revenue recognition

Management fee

Management fee is derived from the management of the business trust and comprises base foe
and performance fee which are respectively determined based on the value of the total assets of
the busincas trust on a consolidated basis, and the adjusted nct operating income of the
investments of business trust. Management fee 15 recognised on an acerual basis.

Aeqguisition, divestment and one-tine infifal vetup fee

Acquisition and divestment fees relate to fees carned in relation 1o the acquisition and divestment
of assets by business trust. The acquisition and divestment fees are determined based om the value
of the assets acquired and divested and are recognised when the services have been rendered.

One<time initnal setup fee relates o acqusition fee for work done in connection with the
acquisition of the initial portfolio by business trust, The fee is recognised when the services have
been rendered,

An Finance income

Finance ncome comprises interest income on deposits placed with banks. Interest mcome 15
recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the effective interest method.

Forcign currency gains and losses on financial assets and Goancial habilities are reported on a net
hasis as cither finance income or finance cost depending on whether forcign curmency movemenis
are in a net gain or net loss position.

L B Lease payvments

Pavments made under operating leases are recopnised in profit or loss on a straight=line basis over
the term of the lease,

313 Tax

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in
profit or loss excepd 10 the cxtent that it relates 1o wems recogmised directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income,

Curreni iax is the expected 1ax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year,
using tax rates cnncted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years. The amount of the current tax payable or receivable is the
best estimate of the tax amount expected 1o be paid or received that reflects uncerainty related o
inceme taxes, if any.
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Deforred tax 15 recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
asscts and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
Refermed tax is not recognised for temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or
liahilitics in a transaction that 15 nod a business combination and that affects neither accountig
nor taxable profits or loss.

Deferned tax 1s measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied 1o temporary differences
when they reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offser if there is a legally enforceable right to offsct current
tax liabilitics and asscts and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same
taxahble entity and the Company intends to setle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or
their tax asseis and liahilitics will be realised simultancously,

A deferred tax asset is recogmised for unused tax losses, tax eredits and deductible temporary
differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at cach reporting date and are reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

In determtining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Company takes into account the impact
of uncertain ax positions and whether addinonal taxes and interest may be due. The Company
belicves that its accruals for tax labilities are adequate for all open tax years based on iis
assessment of many facters including interpretations of tax law and proor experience.  This
assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may invelve a series of judgements about
future cvents, MNew information may bocome available that causcs the Company to change its
Judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax habilities. Such changes to ax Labihities will
impaet @ expense in the period that such a determination is made,

ENE) New standards and interpretations not adopted

A number of new standards and amendments to standards are cffective for annual periods
beginning afier 1 Apal 2017 and earlier application 15 permitted; however, the Company has not
carly applicd the following new or amended standards in preparing these statements,

For those new standards and amendments 1o standards that are expected w have an effect on the
financial statements of the Company in future financial peniods, the Company has to asscss the
transition options and the potential mpact on its finaneial statements, and to implement these
standards. Management provides updates 10 the Board of Dircctors on the progress of
implementing these standards. These updates cover project implementation status, key reporting
and business nsks and the mplementation approach. The Company docs not plan to adopt these
standards carly.
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Patential impact on the financial statements

FRS 115 Revenne from Confracts with
Customers

FRS 115 cstablishes a  comprehensive
framework for determining whether, how
much and when revenue 15 recognised. 1t also
introduces new cost guidance which requires
certain costs of obtaining and  fulfilling
contracts to be recogmised as separate assets
when specified enfena are met.

When effective, FRS 115 replaces existing
revenue recognition guidance. including FRS
18 Revenwe, FRS 11 Construction Contracis,
INT FRS 113 Custosrer  Lovalty
FPragrammes, INT FRS 113 Agreemenis for
the Constrsetion of Real Extare, INT FRS
V18 Fransfers of Asseis from Customiers and
INT FRS 31 Revenne — Barier Transactions
Tnvalving Advertising Services,

FRS 115 is ecffcciive for annual periods
beginning on or afier 1 January 2008, with
carly adoption permitted. FRS 115 offers a
range of transition options including full
retrospechive adoption where an enlity can
choose to apply the standard 1o its historical
transactions and retrospectively adjust cach
compirative period presented in s 2008
financial statements, When applying the full
retrospective method, an entity may also elect
1o use 3 serics of practical expedienis to ease
transigien.

Duning 2018, the Company has performed an
nitial  assessment of the mpact on  the
Company’s financial staements. Overall, the
Company docs not expect a significant impact
on its financial statements for the effect of
applving the requirements of FRS 1135,
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Patential impact on the financial statements

FRS 116 Leases

FRS 1 16 eliminates the lessee’s classification
of leases as either operating leases or finance
leases and introduces a  simple  lessee
accounting model, Applving the new model,
2 lessee is required to recognise nght-of-use
(ROLN asscts and lease habilitics for all
leases with a werm of more than 12 months,
unless the underdying assct is of low value,

FRS 116 substantially carries forward the
lessor accounting requirements in FRS 17
Leases, Accordingly, a lessor comtinues o
classify its leases as operating leases or
finance leases, and 10 account for these two
tvpes of leases using the FRS 17 operating
lease and finance lease accounting models
respectively. However, FRS 116 requires
more extensive disclosures to be provided by
a lessor,

When effective, FRS 116 replaces existing
lease accounting guidance, including FRS 17,
INT FRS 104 Derermining whether an
Arrangement eontaing a Lease; INT FRS 15
Operating Leaves— fncentives, and INT FRS
27 Fvirlnating the Substance of Transaotiong
Favalving the Legal Form of a fease

FRS 116 is cffcctive for annual perinds
beginming on or after | Januwary 2018, with
carly adoption permitted if FRS 115 is also
applicd

The Company has performed @ preliminary
high-level assessment of the new standard on
ils existing operating 1case amrangemenis as a
lessee (refer to note 15). Based on the
preliminary assessment, the Company expects
these operating leases to be recogmised as ROU
asscts with corresponding [case labilitics under
the new standard. The operating lease
commitments on an undiscounted basis amount
to approximately 5% of the total asscts and
T3% of wotal liabilities. Assuming no additional
new operating leases in future years until the
effecove date, the Company expecis the
amount of ROL asset and lease liability o be
lower due to discounting and as the lease terms
run down.

The Company plans to adopt the standard when
it becomes effective in 2019, The Company
will perform a detailed analysis of the standard,
including the transition options and practical
expedients in 2018,

F515
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Plant and equipment

Cost

A Apal 2006
Additions

At 3] March 2007
Additions
Wrtten-off

At 31 March 2008

Accumilated depreciation
At | Apail 20016
Depreciation charge

for the year
At 3] March 2007
Depreciation charge

for the year
Witten-ofT
At 3] March 2018

Carrving amounis
ALl Aprl 2006

At 31 March 2007
At 31 March 2018

Financial derivatives
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Accordio Grolf Trist Management Pre. Lol
Furancin! defewmenis
Year ended 3 March 2005

Office Furniture
Computers  cquipment  amd fittings Total
5 5 5 5
26,860 LT 56,497 92,273
7,968 - - T.thaR
ER R 2 ROl 56,047 101,241
- - 5312 53312
- - (56.4497) (56.497)
34828 B 55312 056
13.430 1,381 19,366 34,177
9,806 2972 11,299 24.077
23,236 4,353 30,6635 58,254
7132 2463 11,300 20,593
= - (41.965) (41.965)
30,368 H.X 16 - 37,184
13,430 7.535 37.131 58040
11,392 4,563 23,832 41 987
4,460 2,100 53,312 1 872
2018 m7
5 5
36430 34570

Forward exchange contracts used for hedging

The Company uses forward exchange contracts to hedge s revenue which were computed based

on Japanese Yen,

Trade and other receivables

Amount dug from Accordia Golf Trust

= Trade
MNon trade

Accrued revenue from Accordia Golf Trust

Deposits
Acerued interest ingome
Oithers

309/355

2018 7
5 5
630,076 651 064
Tir48]
521,317 S50,(H18
91,349 137.677
6206 17.201
I H0 1.653
[.32],229 | 357603
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Accordin Grodf Truct Managemient Pre. Lod.
Fimaneinl sipfewsenty
Year ended 38 March 201X

Outstanding balances with Accordia Golf Trust was unsccurcd, interest-free and repayable in
demand. There is no allowance for doubtful debt arising from this outstanding balance.

The Company’s exposure to credit sk related for rade and other reccivables is disclosed in note
IT.

Cash and cash equivalents

2018 017
8 8

Cash and bank balances 1,364,752 T4 415
Fixed deposits placed with financial institutions ___ 250,585 2,546,839
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial

position 1945337 352124
Fixed deposit pledged with a financial institution { SER (WYY { 5000 (HDEH)
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash Nows 3445317 3N21.254

The fixed deposits placed with financial instituiions mature within the next 12 months and bear
interest rates of (0.66% to 1L.80% (2017 1LO8% to 1.80%) per annum, The fixed deposit of
S500,000 (2017: S500,000) is pledged with a lnancial institution [or foreign exchange forward
facility.

Share capital
2ms T
Mo. of shares  No. of shares
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares, with no par value:
At 1 Apnl and 31 March 625 (W) 25,000

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time 1o e, and
are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regard
io the Company's residual assets.

Capital nrantagentent

The Board's poelicy 15 to maintain a sound capital position to suppon its business growth and
strategic investments,

There were no changes in the Company's approach to capital management duning the year. The
Company is not subject to extemally imposed capital requirements.

Hedping reserve

Hedging reserve records the portion of the fair valwe changes on financial dervatives that were
designated as hedging mstruments which were determined o be effective hedges

F517

310/355



n

12

EDINETOOOO
Oo0ooooooooobo0oDo0obDo0ooDo0oooo0o0bDo0g0oOoo(Ese783)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Accordio Grolf Trist Management Pre. Lol
Furanciol urhemweniv
Year ended 3 March 2005

Deferred tax liahilities

Movement in deferred tax liabilitics! {assets) of the Company during the vear is as follows:

Recognised Recognised
At in profit or Al in profit or At
142016 loss (note 14) I13200T  loss (note 14) 31/3/2018
b 5 5 % 5
PMlant and equipment 7258 {119y 7,139 (2.715) 4,424
Provisions {1.697) e (18 T30 (158)
5,361 it} 6,221 {1985 4.236
Trade and other payables
ms m7
5 5
Trade pavables 97,714 46,945
Amount due to related corporations (trade) 46,894 1096
Accrucd operating cxpenscs 153 45K HT 100
Goods and Services Tax payable 28356 28471
326,452 262612

The Company's exposure o currency and liquidity risks related to trade and other payables are
disclosed in nate 17,

Revenue
2018 017
s 5
Management foo 3,011,325 3,155,705
Finance income
018 2017
L1 %
Interest income 34,242 35479
Met exchange pnin 3136 1,741
37,378 3922
FS18
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Aceordio Golf Fruce Management Pre. Lnd
Fimancun dalemeniy
Year ended 3) March 2005

Profit before tax

The following items have been included in armiving at profit be fore tax:

2018 2017
5 5
Salaries and bonuscs | 810,216 1924 673
Contributions 1o defined contribution plans 45,077 49,744
(ther personngl cxpenses 44,076 138,387
Tax expense
2018 7
-7 5
Currenl lax expense
Current year 33,201 24,737
Owerprovision in prior vear (5.491) =
27.710 24.737
Deferved tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences [1,5985) il )
Total tax expense 25.725 25397
Reconciliation of effective fux rote
Profit before tax ELTRULY 386,792
Tax using the Singapore tax rate of 17% (2007; 17%) [ T (5 755
Mon-deductible expenses 3,620 5,391
Owerprovision in prior yoar (5,491) -
Tax cxempt ncome - {14 300
Tax incentive (29.607) (25925)
Tax rebate {8,300 {5.515)
Others {358) -
25,725 25397
Operating lease
Mon-cancellable operating lease rental is payable to a related company as follows:
2018 017
5 b3
Within onc vear 132 8RR 155,188
Berween one and five vears 132 883 186,657
265,776 341,845
FS19
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Aceordio Golf Fruce Management Pre. Lnd
Fimancun dalemeniy
Year ended 3) March 2005

The Company leases its office premise under operating lease with a related company. In June
2016, the Company has remewed the lease for a period of three vears with the related company.

Related parties

Key management personnel compensiaiion

Koy management personnel of the Company are those persons having authority and responsibility
for planming, directing and controlling the acuvines of the Company, directly or indirectly, The

directors of the Company are considered as key management personnel.

The key management personncl compensation, representing compensation o dircctors of the
Company, for the vear is as follows;

2018 m7
s s
Salaries and other shoni-term employee benefits Rl 044 966,221

(her related party fransactions

Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following were the significant
transactions between the Company and its related partics which were carried out at terms agreed
between the parties duning the financial year:

2018 017
5 5

Accordia Golf Trust
Management foe (3001,325)  (3,155,705)
Disbursement of expenses 95015 ®1.620
Related corporations
Human resource and administrabive service rendered - 22,605
Rental expense 148,722 142 608

Financial instruments

{hverview

The Company has exposure (o the following nsks from its use of financial mstrumenis:

«  credit risk

«  lugudity nsk

«  market risk

This note presents mformation about the Company’s exposure to cach of the above nisks, the

Company's objectives, policics and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the
Company s management of capial,

F520
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Avcordin Grolf Tract Managemient Pre. Ll
Fimanciol wiafemarniy
Year ended 38 March 200X

Risk management framework

The Board of Dirgetors has overall responsibility for the cstablishment and oversight of the
Company”s risk management framework,

The Company's nisk management policies are established to identsfy and analyse the nisks faced
by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor nsks and adherence
to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in
market conditions and the Company's activitics. The Company, through its training and
management standards and procedures, aims fo develop a disciplined and constructive control
environment in which all emplovees understand their reles and obligations.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company 1f 2 customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fanls (o meet its contractual obhigations, and anses principally from the Company’s
receivables from customers,

At the reporting date, the Company’s prunary exposure (o credit risk anses through its receivables
from a related corporation, The camying amounts of financial assels in the siaement of financial
position represent the Company”™s maximum exposure to credit risk.

Impairment losses

Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired mainly anse from creditworthy deblors
with good payment record with the Company., The Company believes that no impairment
allowanee 15 necessary 10 respect of reccivables not past duc. As at the reporing date, there are
no reccivables past due.

Caxl and cash equivalents

The Company held cash and cash equivalents of 53,945 337 (201 7: 83 521 524) as at 31 March
2018, which represents its maximum credit exposure on these assets. The cash and cash
cquivalents are held with bank and financial institutions which are regulated.

Liguidiny risk

Liguidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in mecting the obligations
associated with its financial liabilitigs that are seitled by delivening cash or another financial asset,

In the management of liguidity risks, the Company monitors and maintains a level of cash and
cash equivalents deemed adequaie by the management to finance the Company’'s operations and
mitigate the cffects of fluctuations in cash flow.

F521
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Aceordio Golf Fruct Management Pre. Lol
Fimancind siphomenis
Year enced 38 March 2005

The fallowing arc the contractual maturitics of financial liabilitics excluding the impact of netting

agrecments:
Cash Mows
Carrving  Contractual Within Within
amount cash flows 1 year 1 to § years
5 L3 5 s
31 March 2018
Mon-derivative linancial
linhilities
Trade and other payables 326,452 (326,452) (326,432) -
Derivative inancial
instruments
Forward exchange controcts
uscd for hedging
[ pross-settled): 36,439
— Dutflow - (1.231.276)  (1.2301.276) -
— Inflow - 1,267,715 1,267,715 -
36459 36,439 36,430
362 B9 (290,013} (290,00 3) =
31 March 2017
Mov=derivative linancial
liabilities
Trade and other payables 262612 (262.612) (262.612) -
Derivative financial
instruments
Forward exchange contracts
used for hedging
{wross-scitled) 34,370
— Outflow - (L163.244)  (1,163,244) -~
= Inflow " 1,217,614 1,217,614 -
£4370 54,370 54,370 =

316,981 (208241) (208241} =

The disclosure shows net cash flow amounts for derivatives that are cash sentled and gross cash
inflow and outflow amounts for dervatives that have simultancous gross cash settlement ez
forward exchonge contracts.

Market rixk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest
rates will affeet the Company”s income or the value of its holdings of financial insoruments. The

objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within
aceeptable parameters, while optimising the return.

F522
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Avcordin Grolf Friut Managemient Pre. Lnd
Fimanciol spfemaeniy
Year ended 38 March 2015

Foreign errrency risk

The Company is exposed 10 currency risk on purchases and cash balances that are denominated
in Japanese yen (JPY),

The Company uscs derivative financial instruments to hedge iis currency nisk.
Management reviews penodically 1o ensure that the net exposure is kept at an acceptable level.

The Company's cxposure o forcign currency risk is as follows:

018 17
JPY JPY
5 5
Cash and cash equivalents 139,700 137 409
Trade and other payables (48,313) (37.677)
Met exposure 91387 79,732

Sensitiviey analysis

A strengthening of the SGD against the JPY at 31 March 2018 would have increased (decreased)
profit or loss by the amounts shown below, This analysis is based on foreign currency cxchange
rate variances that the Company considered to be reasonably possible at the end of the reporting
perind. The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rales, remain constant
and ignores any impact of forecasted purchases.

Profit or loss
10%s 1%
strengthenming  weakening
5 s

31 March 2018
JPY {9139} 9,139
31 March 2007
Iy (7.973) 7973

Aceonnting clussifications and fair values

The carrying amounts of finoncial assets and Habilities, which are not measured at fair value as
shown in the statement of financial position, are as fellows. Informatnion on fair value of fnancial
asscts and financial liahilitics are not disclosed when their carying amounts are reasonable
approximation of their fair values.

The carrying amounts of financial asscts and liabilitics with a maturity of less than onc year
Gncluding cash and cash equivalems, irade recevables and other payvables) approsamate their fair
values because of the shom period o maturity,

F523
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Accordin Golf Trast Management Pre. Lol
Firancind siefemeniy
Year ended 3] March 2005

The fair value of forward exchange contracts (Level 2 fair values) wsed for hedging is based on
markel comparison technique. The fair value are based on broker quotes. Similar contracts are
trade in an active market and the quotes reflect the actual transactions in similar instrument,

Fair value
through other Total
Amortised comprehensive  carryving

Mole cost mcome amount
5 5 s

31 March 2018
Financial assels nol measured

at fair value
Trade and other receivables ] 1,321,229 - 1,321,229
Cash and cash equivalenis T 3,945,337 - 3945337

5,266,566 = 3,260 566

Financial assets measured

at fair value
Forward exchange coniracis used

for hedging 5 - 36,439 36430
Financial liabilities not measured

at fair valie
Trade and other payvables * 0 {298 056) - {298 056)
31 March 2017
Financial assets not measured

al fair vilue
Trade and other receivables [ 1,357 603 1,357 6003
Cash and cash equivalents 7 3,521,284 - 3.5821.254

4 878,957 = 4 878957

Financial assets measured

af fair value
Forward exchange contracis uscd

for hedging 5 - 54,370 54,170
Financial liahilities not measured

al Fair value
Trade and other payables * 10 (234.141) — (234.141)

*  Esxclude Goods and Service Tax payable

F524
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Accordia Golf Trust (“AGT”) and its
subsidiary (“the Group”) and the statement of financial position of AGT are properly drawn up in accordance
with the provisions of the Business Trusts Act, Chapter 31A of Singapore (the “Act”) and International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) so as to give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group and the financial position of AGT as at 31 March 2019 and of the consolidated financial performance,
consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended on that
date.

What we have audited

The financial statements of AGT and the Group comprise:
the statements of financial position of the Group and AGT as at 31 March 2019;
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the Group for the financial
year then ended,;
the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the Group for the financial year then ended;
the consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the financial year then ended; and
the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial

Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority Code
of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together

with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST (continued)

Our Audit Approach

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in
the accompanying financial statements. In particular, we considered where the Trustee-Manager made
subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making
assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also
addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters consideration of
whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2019. These matters were addressed in the

context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST (continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

Impairment assessment of Property, Plant and
Equipment (Note 10)

Refer to Note 2(k), Note 3(b) and Note 10 to
the financial statements

As at 31 March 2019, the Group operates 89 golf
courses in Japan classified as property, plant
and equipment with a carrying value of JPY
141,333 million, representing 89% of total assets.
For the financial year ended 31 March 2019, an
impairment loss of JPY 4,818 milion was
recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss
And Other Comprehensive Income.

The assessment of impairment of golf courses is
significant to our audit due to:

The carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment that contributes significantly to the
Group's total assets; and

The amount of Trustee-Manager's judgement
involved in assessing the recoverable
amounts of the golf courses. This includes
judgement about the future cash flows
generated from the golf courses, as well as
judgements about discount rates applied in
the discounted cash flow analysis.

Our audit procedures focused on the
reasonableness of the inputs applied in
determining the recoverable amounts of the golf
courses. The audit procedures were performed
with the support from our valuation specialists.

Our audit procedures included the following:

obtained an understanding of the Trustee-
Managers  processes for impairment
assessment;

involved our valuation specialists to assess
the appropriateness of the valuation
technigues and the reasonableness of the
inputs such as discount rates used by the
external valuers in determining the
recoverable amounts of the golf courses;
tested the integrity of information, including
financial information provided to the
professional valuers;

reviewed the Trustee-Manager's sensitivity
analysis on the inputs utilised as part of the
impairment assessment; and

assessed the Trustee-Manager's main future
cash flow inputs and corroborated them by
comparing them to internal forecasts and
strategic plans that were approved by senior
management, and compared these inputs
against historical data.

Based on the procedures performed, we found
the underlying inputs applied to be reasonable.

We have also assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures relating to the judgements made and
found the disclosures in the financial statements
to be appropriate.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST (continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit
Matter

Impairment assessment of goodwill (Note 11)

Refer to Note 2(i), Note 3(c) and Note 11 to
the financial statements

As at 1 April 2018, the Group had goodwill of
JPY 17,079 million, which was accounted for as
the difference  between the purchase
consideration of JPY 75,225 million and the fair
value of net assets acquired of JPY 58,146
million, relating to the acquisition of Tokumei
Kumiai (“TK”) Interest by AGT as at 1 August
2014.

In accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets,
goodwill acquired in a business combination
should be tested for impairment annually.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2019, an
impairment loss of JPY 13,144 million was
recognised in the Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.

The assessment of impairment of goodwill is
significant to our audit due to:

The carrying amount of goodwill that
contributes significantly to the Group’s total
assets; and

The amount of Trustee-Manager's judgement
involved to determine the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU").
This includes judgement about profitability
margins

and costs to sell for the Group’s portfolio of
golf courses, as well as judgement about
discount rate and terminal growth rate applied
in the discounted cash flow analysis.

Our audit procedures focused on the
reasonableness of the inputs applied in
determining the recoverable amount of the CGU.
The audit procedures were performed with the
support from our valuation specialists.

Our audit procedures included the following:

obtained an understanding of the Trustee-

Manager's process for impairment
assessment;
assessed the reasonableness of the

estimated cash flows by taking into account
the CGU's expected future operating
performance (including revenue growth rates
and net profit margins), as well as historical
actual performance and accuracy of the
Trustee-Manager's forecast in prior years;
assessed the reasonableness of the terminal
growth rate and discount rate applied using
commonly accepted methodologies and
benchmarks; and

reviewed the Trustee-Manager's sensitivity
analysis on the inputs utilised as part of the
impairment assessment.

Based on the procedures performed, we found
the underlying inputs applied to be reasonable.

We have also assessed the adequacy of the
disclosures relating to the judgements made and
found the disclosures in the financial statements
to be appropriate.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST (continued)

Other Information

The Trustee-Manager is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the sections
of the annual report but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Trustee-Manager and Directors for the Financial Statements

The Trustee-Manager is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with the provisions of the Act and IFRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal
accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from
unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as
necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of
assets.

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustee-Manager is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Trustee-Manager either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST (continued)
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal controls.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the Trustee-Manager.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Trustee-Manager’'s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE UNITHOLDERS OF ACCORDIA GOLF TRUST (continued)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Trustee-Manager on
behalf of AGT have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Yeow Chee Keong.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants
Singapore, 26 June 2019

)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT

MEMBERS OF THE COMPANY
Accordia Golf Trust Management Pte. Ltd.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Accordia Golf Trust Management Pte. Ltd. (‘the Company’), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, the statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages FS1 to FS26.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (‘the Act’) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (' FRSS) so asto give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2019 and of the financial performance,
changes in equity and cash flows of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (‘ SSAS). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the ‘Auditors responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate
Regulatory Authority Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (*
ACRA Code’) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in
Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information contained in the annual report. Other information is defined as
al information in the annual report other than the financial statements and our auditors report thereon.

We have obtained al other information prior to the date of this auditors report.

Our opinion on the financia statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of management and Directors for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls
sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or
disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the
preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’ s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Directors responsihilities include overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditors responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We a so:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentiona
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal controls.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements
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or, if such disclosures are inadeguate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditors report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company
to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal controls that we identify during our
audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been properly
kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

KPMGLLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore
26 June 2019

)
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Independent auditors report

Members of the Company
Accordia Golf Trust Management Pte. Ltd.

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Accordia Golf Trust Management Pte. Ltd. (‘the Company’), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018, the statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages FS1 to FS24.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (‘the Act’) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (‘' FRSS) so asto give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2018 and of the financial performance,
changes in equity and cash flows of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (' SSAS). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the ‘Auditors responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate
Regulatory Authority Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (*
ACRA Code’) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in
Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information contained in the annual report. Other information is defined as
all information in the annual report other than the financial statements and our auditors report thereon.

We have obtained all other information prior to the date of this auditors report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of management and Directors for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls
sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or
disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the
preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Directors responsibilities include overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
Auditors responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individualy or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We aso:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal controls.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,

and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal controls that we identify during our
audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been properly
kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

KPMGLLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore
25 June 2018

()
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